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CANADA 

I~ THE MATTER OF A CO~iMISSION, appointing the HONOURABLE 1 

HARRISO~ ANDREW McKEOWN, a Co~mi,;sionrr to enquire into 
and report upon affairs of the HO:ME BANK OF CANADA. 

AXD IN THE ;\1ATTER OF THE PETITION of the Depositors in the said 
HOME BANK OF CAXADA. 

Brfore the Honourable Chief Justire MrKeown, the above named Royal 
CommiRRioner, at Ottawa, Friday, the 25th day ?f April, 1924. 

Co,m.,el: 
EFGENE L'.<\.FLELR, K.C., and H. J. SYMINGTON, K.C., 

for the Government of thu Dominion of Canada. 

R. J. McLAUGHLIN, KC., A. G. BRow:rd~G, K.C., and W. T. J. LEE, 
for the Depositors. 

McGREGOR YoLNG, K.C., for the Attorney General of, Ontario. 

:::,ir THOMAS ·WHITE rross-examined by Mr. McLaughlin: 

Q. Sir Thomas, you ·were Finance Minister, I believe, from the year 1911 
until 1919?-A. That is correct; August 1st, 1919. 

Q. And you were the only person who had any authority tu ask for i0for­
mation surh as haR been asked for from any bank?-A. Well, that is not a very 
clear question, Mr. McLaughlin. I wa:,; the only man who had any authority 

I 

Q. Fnrkr tlw Bank Act?-A. Under th'e authority of the Bank Act I was 
rntitlc:d to ask for info'rmation; I have not looked into that legal point, but 
that i,- my opinion. 

Q. \Vell, you were the person who, uridrr the Bank Act, had authority to 
a:;k for information?-A. Undoubtedly I had authority. 

Q. And no other person had authority?-A. Xot that I am aware of. 
Q. ~o that if any per»on required information it had to be obtained through 

you?-A. If anybody required information it had to be obtained through me? 
Q. Yes, unlr,-.-; it w'ere voluntarily offered by the bank itc<e!f?-A. I do not 

under,-tand that quc,-tion, Mr. !Vld,aughlin. 
Q. Take the ca,-.e that artua1ly arose when tho~e Dirrctors required infor­

mation. If thy could not get it from the management the only other person 
they ('Ould get it from wa,, your,-.elf, or through you?-A. I would not say that. 

· Q. Under the authority of the Bank Art?-A. No, I would not say that. 
The authority that the ;\iinister has under the Bank Act is clearly ,art out in 
the Bank Act. 

Q. Do you know of any provi,ion in the Bank Act that authorizes any 
othrr pen-on to a:::k for information?-A. Just a moment till I finish. I am 
not aware that any Director of a bank ha,- any authority given him under any 
~tatute, as far as I am awarl', to a'-k for information from the ".\Iini:;ter of 
Finanrr. Tile return,; of the bank are publi:;hed from month to month. 

Q. You do not think any person has any authority to ,ask for information 
from the Mini:-trr of .Finanre?-A. \Vhen )'.OU say "authority," I me~m auth-
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328 ROYAL COMMISSIU1V 

ority under the Bank Act, and I am not aware that anybody has any authority 
to ask for information from the Mini:-:ter of Finance under the Bank Act, but, 
as a matter of fact, if :-:ome one had ('ume to me and asked for information, if 
it wa'5 of su('h a publir character that I felt justified in giving it, why, of coun-e, 
I would give it. · 

Q. It i::; a frre country and the subject has always the right to approach the 
Crown and its Ministers, there is no doubt about tlw.t?-A. I have alwa~-:5 con­
sidered that to be so, but nevcrthrle"s there i.- informat.ion of every de-;cripti1Jn 
which is in the di:ocretion of the Government to bring down to Parliament or to 
make publi('. 

Q. There were rertain duties, anyway, impo:oed upon you by the Bank Act? 
-A. There were certain dutic;:;, and cerbin dif-icretiom were set out in the Ar·t. 

Q. The Bank Act did not say, or dues not ~ay "mu"t" in any (·ase, it ~ays 
"may "?-A. May. In any of thr case" that I referred to ye,terday it says 
"may". ,vhethrr it mean:; "must" or "shall" I do not know. 

Q. In fact, Sir Thoma~, there is nu :;btute which uses the term." mu:5t '' 
whrn rPferring to tl:e Crown or its ::\Iini<-tc·r?-A. The word '' E-hall " yon 
freqm·ntly see in thP statutes. -

Q. 1\ot whm it refers to the Crown?-A. Well, I would not be prepared 
to say that. You are a bwyer and you can am,wer that que»tion; i{ is a legal 
qutition. 

Q. "'ell, the Crown was under no rompulsion, but the Crm,n is alwa:r 
,-uppo,-i>d to do it,- duty, and alway-, will, without compulsion?-A. vVell, that i, 
a very admirable sentiment to which ~ shall be Yery glad to subs(-ribe. 

Q. Well, as an uffif'Pr of the Crown, holdin~ a very important offire a"' 
Ministn of Finanre, I ;:uppose you will admit that yuu would feel the same 
obligation tu\rnrd,; the puhlir as you would towards a private client?-A. I 
would feel as high an oblig::ition to dis,·haru:e all dutie-; impo,,cd upon me by 
statute, or by virtue of my office, as I would with regard to a priv1.te client, 
quite a,- hip;h if not higl1l'r. 

Q. The duties of supervi,-ion of banks, so far a!' tl'.e Bauk Act authorize;.; 
the Finance Mini;;;ter, of cuurt--e, are very important?-A. The dutiP,; impo,;ed 
upon the ':\Iini,-tn hy the Bank Ar•r are, of courne, important, if thvy are 

, impo,-rd upon me. 
Q. In fact, there iR nothing th.'lt d'f~rt::; th'e public weal, so far as material 

in,.titutions arr concerned, more than the bank:-'?-A. ,ven, I would not be pre­
pared to say thut, but I would ~ay it was excredingly important. 

Q. Now, in the year 1916, on or about the 22nd· of hnuary, you rec,·iwd 
certain memoranda from the Western DirC'rtors of the Home Bank. I believe 
thrre WPre thre0 durnmrnt"-, Exhibits 2, 3 and 5?-A. I would have to check that, 
Mr. McLaugblin. I stated yP:::terday that wLile, a.:; a mr.tter of memory, I was 
unable to state, after :-;n long a lap~e of time, that these exhibits had been 
rc·t·Pived I hurl no doubt that they were, a~ t'1ey were filed by the Department. 

Q. Tbo~e are the Exhibit.,;?-A. I nmember the Fisher communication very 
clearly, and I have no doubt tho:"e are t11e er.clornre,,. 

Q. \\ ell, these were of a very serious nature'?-A. They were of a di-,­
turbing nature. 

Q. It was a very excrptional thing for tl,ree Diredors of a bank to make a 
complaint a::1 to their own institution ?-A. It was. 

Q. You know of no other i1i~ta1H'e?-A. Xot Ly Directors. 
Q. And these DireC'tors you knew, or Rome of them?-.\. I knew ~fr. 

Crrrar. 
Q. You knew him to be a man of the highrst character and reputattion?-A. 

Well, that wa,; my belief regarding Mr. Crerar. 
Q. So you ~aid yesterday?-A. Yes. 
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Q. Now, we will take Exhibit 5?-A. Yes, I have that. 
Q. Page 18. That Exhibit referred chiefly to the condition of affairs at 

the chief Toronto offire of the bank?-A. Ye:;. 
Q. It says:-

" Early in the fall of 1914, suggestions came to the western member;, 

that the busined in the chief Toronto office of the bank was not in good 

condition, and the western members became anxious therefore to have 

the matter enquired into, and this led to artion being taken on the lines 

herein indicated. 
"The three western directors went to Toronto in November, 1914, 

with the special view of making particular enquirres as to the po.;ition 

of the chief Toronto branch, and with a view to making a complaint to 

some extent as to the amount of money withdrawn from the We-,t for 

making loan-, in the E~st. 
" We called on the General 1-fanager personally in the first place, and 

a ftcr discw,,,ing matt{'rs generally, we asked him to let us have a list of 

all loans in the Toronto office cxreeding $25,000. He suggested a private 

mePting with ourselves to give us the information, it being unnecessary, 

as he suggested, to have the eastern Jirectors at the meeting, as they wer" 

familiar with the loans. To this we demurred, and intimated that we 

wi-ohcd tf1e information given at a full mcet:ng, which was agreed to, and 

the meeting was thereupon held on the followin'g day and continued 'next 

three days. 
"Certain information was given at that meeting, with which, how­

ever, the western member:s o~ the Board were not by any means sati.;fied, 

a,- is shown by a lettrr of 17th F rb1·uary, 1915, addressed by the western 

member;, to :\1r. A. C. Macdonell, that letter being sent to him partieularly 

bceJ.u,,\ he was a member of tl,e legal profps::-ion, and we relied upon him 

to br of as,:;istance to us in getting the fullest information pos,5ible." 

Th:lt "howed that these Dirrrtors were dissati"fied with the conduct of the 

bu~inr~,: at the ehief Toronto office?-A. Y cs, I ti1ink it did, that is, under the 

then management. 
Q. And thl'y desired information not as to three particular loans but as to. 

every loan over $25,000?-A. They did, from the General Manager. 
Q. Y cs, and they could not get information that was satisfactory to them? 

-A. Ap13arently not, although I do not know that. 
Q. Thrn the letter reads on:-

" The same matters were further discussed at a meeting held in t'.H' 

end of Dec..:mb..:r, as indicated in the letter above referred to. In par­

~icular at the December meeting, t,he western members urgently pressed 

for the passage of the resolution therein quoted, and the eastern membrn, 

were ab::iolutely at one with Uti in expressing the necc<--,ity for a chatl!!'P 

in the management of the head office, but the re!:iolution was not then 

adopted-" 

That shows they were di"satis.fied with the management at the head 

office?~A. There wa:, evidently dissen;:;ion in the Board and trouble regarding 

the management. . 
(~. Notwith-.bnding the high reputation and high character that you gave 

the Honourable James Ma-,on?-A. Well, I only '-poke of Mr. Mason, General 

Mi:son as I knew him at that time, because it indicated my viewpoint at that 

time respecting him. 
Q. I want to explain, Sir Thomas, that I am not casting any reflection on 

your good faith in this matter at all.-A. I do not think you are. 
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Q. I just want to get the faf't".--A. You do not want to get the fact,- out 
any mon· than I do, Mr. :'.\,Ii-Laughlin I have bc,~n am::iou,; to gH them out for 
month:-. 

Q. Yr:=:, '-O that you will under'-tand that anything I ask you has no pPr­
;.:unal reflection whatcver.-A. I under:,tand that perfectly. 

Q. Tbev go on to s:.1y:-
.. At the Xo,·rmber mrNing-: we made inquiry as to whether any 

rerrht in,,pection had hc•~n made of thP Toronto offirr, and were told hy 
Colonel Ma..,on that it had not been deemrd ncf'e'-sary to have it in.~pr.d"d 
bt·cau,.:e the bu~ine"~ of that brunch came wrl-'klv hefore the Board. We 
prote-:tcd against the failure to liave a regular in;.:peetion, and at a -.:ub­
sequent meeting hll in:--pt'ction wa:- d:rrrtt\d to be made by :'.\Ir. AcLlir, th< 
Bank's supervi,:or. W c :-prrially urged that it "'hould be ready for ~ub­
mi:--~iun lwfore the annual nw,,ting to be held 'de in June. It turned out, 
however, tLat t!ie in:'pcction rt>pnrt wa-- not ready wlwn the annu~tl mrt·t­
ing wa'l heid on 29th June, but we did nnt know of it- not beinµ. com­
pleted until we ramr to tlie meeting. It wa- then di-.:c•lo-.:cd that tit· 
annual r<'port haJ already been fnrwardf•d to (Jthwa without our knp\\·­
ing anything of it," cont.< nt,;;. '' 

TLPy would r.ppear to be saying that t.'.1e annual report wa-; sent in without 
it b1ing rnbmittt,d to the Direl'tor,;?-A. The ;mnu::il nport? 

Q. Y r:-.-A. Well, I cannot :-jJf'ak of anything as to the Bank Art without ,p1•ing it, lmt if you :-ay ;.:o, thtt thr Bank Ad i-btns-
Q. The rrport is a report uf the Dire!'tor~, is it nnt?-A. It is a report. I 

f1ink, of t!1r Board, but I ,:.hould not '.ike tn ,;ay that offhand, :'.\'fr. McLau~rl lrn 
witl:out looking at the Ba11k .\rt. I think yuu are r•qrrect, but you undr~:-t:m• 1 
you are a:'~~ing me a:c: to :-omc,thin~ that i,- cxprrs,ly in the Bank Art,, anri it :~ 
not Lefore mt·. 

Q. And they :-,1y rle:irlv enough that tril' a·rnuul report had been sent ip 
without being passed by th· dirrdnr,?-A. You .. an' rrading from t!1is r·nm­
mun:r·at:on, and that is ,k,trd. 

(,,!. Tl1'l-n it goc,; on furthrr:-
" l\fr. Gooclcrham, a membrr of th1· Bourcl, had during t!1e --un1hlt'" 

of 1915, pn, ent,rl r,1:,, rt'signation from the Bo:,rd, but had bpcn v•·­
v.1ilrri on to rP' .tin Li,- :-eat trmporarily, at all rvGnt ,. 

" I:arly in ,hnuary, 1916, a 'ttt"r, d,ttrd 3ht Dcrcmbn, 1915, 1·11:1:· 
of wr.i,·h i-< rtttat·ht·d, wa" n°rr:nd from the Cit'nr,·al l\1anagrr, annou~r·­
inµ: thr rr~i<rn:itiun of l\L-. l\frXaug'.:t a,- a dirretor, and tlw elcl't:1J11 ol 
.:\Ir. "\V. R. Haney in his place." 

A. A::: a Din·,·tor. 
Q. YP". And thrn:-

" On or abOi.lt the 17th ·,n~t._. we fl C(•ivrd from L1r Grneral l\Lrnain r 
a letter ( rnpy attae 1er: in the Banwrd mrmo) announcmg the re-.:ign,.­
t10n of 1Jr. Goodt>r:ia111 and the clr, tion of :\Ir. C. A. Barnard 1r. ], , 
piace." 

A. You ar~ re:1ding? 
<j. YP", and onr of the loan,., t',d t!wse Din·dnr< w:1,:. complaining about 

W,t' a loan to tJ.is very l\fr. Barnard?-A. I am not prepared to .. ay fout. 
b1·rnu~ · I have not namined thi;,. A loan. unch:r-.:tood, to the Prudential Tru~t. q. That i,- ExLibit 3.-A. Tliat i-s t!1e Prudrnt:al Tru~t loan. 

Q. -Xo, ~Ir. Barna 0 d's loan, 1:xhibit 3.-A. Wait till I :::Pe that. 
Q. :\Ir. Barnard :::eemcd to bP mi).ed up in the Prudential Tru,t ?-A. 0 1., ye , t!rnt i" the ::,'.1an·s of the .Home Bank stork, and the dvance being m1 l•· 

.. 



.. 

HOME BANK OF CANADA 331 

in connec-tion with the taking over of the Banque Internationale. I thought 

you were referring to the Prudential loan, but you are referring to the Barnard 
loan, Mr. McLaughlin. 

Q. ~ow, on Exhibit Ko. 3, they complained about a loan to Mr. Barnar,' 

of $394,000?-A. Well, you are reading, the Exhibit shows that. 

Q. \Ye will leave that for a moment. Exhibit No. 2, that complainl'rl 

about the Prudential Trust loan?--A. YR:'. You will notiee that is markrd 

'· Confidential me'mo to the ::.\iini~ter of Finame." That is .J amL~ Fi--h(-r'1, 
communication. I think. 

Q. Yes, th,at i:-, Fi,.:hrr writing on bd,alf of tlw:::e Directors?-A. Ye~. 

Q. Mr. Barnard appeared to be a Dirrdor of the Prudential Tru;:t Com­

pany abo?-A. Wdl, I am unable to f'ay that. 
Q. You see that on the top of page 13.-A. If you say ;.:o, why, I clo not 

dPmur. Ye,, it ~ays ,;o. 
Q. ~o they had made thi,- ~rrious change in tl1e dirrrtorate by taking ,the 

re--ignE.tion of Mr. Gooclerham, a man· of in,h·prnclent position and hiµ;h rhar­

aetcr, and appointing Mr. Barnard a DirPt'tor who was per~onally inclcbtrd to 

the bank, evidently, in $394.000. and wa8 one of the Dirt·l'tors of the Prudenfrtl 

Tru,t Company which wa-, h•,tvily indebted to t}1e \Jank, nearly $700.000?-A. 

Mr. Barnard was evidentlv appointed a Dirf'etor. I a,"ume he wa~ appointPd 

lawfully a Diredor uncler the Bank Act. I had not the appointing uf dm·rtors, 

I had no powers to bring about the re--ii•nation or appointment of dirrc·tor~. 

Q. I am not que~tioning y1mr power". but that i,- the fact, that took plaee? 

-A. Oh, well, tl;e rxhibit ~peak$ for it,df. 
Q. Those directors, 1tr't"irding to Mr. Fi~lwr':, rr·port, had no notire of the 

merting at which Mr. Ktrnard was appointe, i a dirretor, or of the nH•e'ing at 

whirh Mr. Haney W,l'- a,ppointt'rl a rlirrrt0r?-A. ·well, I do not know that. 

Howc,er, if you ~ay it i,; in the eommunication it mu~t be ~o. I am -p::c:kin_1~ 

of f'omething that happowcl eight years ago. I l,aYe a fairly good men}(lry but 

it i;-: pretty difficult to remember ~mall ch·tails. 

His LORDSHIP: Mr. ::\IrLaughlin. ju"t for my own informat:on, you haYe 

med the word " romplaint '' ~f'vrral time:' in your. l'>..amination. Arc the,e to 

be rq:?;arded as ro_mplainh: to the l\lini;:ter, in your view, or are they ju;:t ,-etting 

out the fact to the ".\1ini,-trr in ordrr t\l appri,e l1im of it? Do you n·~arrl t'.1cm 

as'complaints to him? 
::\Ir. Mc LAFGHL,X: \Vell, U,{•y ,arc attad1ed to the memoranda, and i 'H'Y 

w,•rt• enrlosed with it as a part of thr record. 

His LORDSIIIP: I haw bc-rn looking t·Lrough them, and I <'annot ;-:trikr, for 

the moment, anything in which they ,a~· '' ~ow, \YC ~re complaining about, tln:~e 

thmg,.; to you and ask you to do so and ;:o." 

Mr. McLArGHLIN: \Yrll, I ,vill come to that. 

The WITXF.:iS: On the ec111trary. y6ur lorcbhip, wh"n l\1r. Fi,-hcr brougl:t in 

the r0mmunicat10n to mv offire it was markPcl " (\,nfidrntial" arnl tliPn· wu,.; 

no requr:-t for me t9 jakr ·al'tion. The al'tion that I took wa- of my own volition. 

Hi;,: LORDSHIP: I just wanted to get ::V1r. McLaughlin's vie\\·point in <·unnec­

tion wit11 that corre,:ponden<·t>. 
The WITNESS: I quit-.• appn·,iatc the point 

Mr. McLAl·mn.IN: You refused to an·qit. them a;: confirlvntial? --A. I (·cr­

tainly did. I said to Mr. Fi~her, if you !raw that cnmmunir·ation in my offirc 

I :,;Lall ab:mlutely de, line to rri:,,ard it as confidrntial. 
Q. That is prrfretly right.-A. He wanted it regarded as eonficlrntial. I 

am speaking a little loudly, Mr. Ml'Laughlin, for your brnefit. As I :aay, he 

wanted it rrgarded as confidrntial, and for my information. ,. 
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Q. These original memoranda, they bid the facts before you?-A. The 
fact:.:, as contained in the memoranda, were laid before me. 

Q. To take ·mch action, I prernme, as in your judgment you would decide 
to be right?-A. Well, I cannot tell you what was in ::\Ir. Fi,,her's mind, I 1·an 
only tell you what happened. He marked the memoranda " Confidential '' and 
he distinctly did not ask me to take action. I told him that that communica­
tion-there ii' no use in my repeating it-could nut be regarded by me as con­
fidential. 

Q. Them memoranda al:::o rrferred to the Frost and Pellatt loan-, ?-A. Yei', 
they did. They were (he very large itrm;;., they were the itemi' that di-,turbed 
me from the i;:t::mdpoint of the ::;tability of the bank. 

Q. If you will turn to Exhibit 52, at page 81. without reading the whole 
of that, you will find, the ::;econd paragraph, the following:-

" Meantime, I had a wire on the 15th inst., from Mr. La,:h, in which 
it wa-; intimated that he wi,s in communication with you-that you were 
asking for a report on :-ome matter:::, particulars of which he did not 
mention, but which I assume related to the matters referred to in my 
memoranda. In thi-, wire, Mr. La;,;h stated, al:-o, that he had writtrn 
you explaining the prei'rnt po~ition, 1,tnd that the Bo;1rd wa-; now in 
accord, and would bwe new manap:rment and full invl:-::tigation aR Roon 
as po;-,r-ible, addin~ that he had tl:e information that you a,,kct1 for, but 
a.:; it would be u,:elr'-s to you unle,--.: full inve:;tigation were made, he wa~ 
Lolding it in the hope that you would allow investigation to be ma,!1, 
under the direction of the Board, and he sugirested that I >-hould gl't my 
clients to communicate with you and make rcque:5t accordingly." 

j 
A. Yr,:, I ~ee that. 

Q. Xow, down on the same page, he say,::-
"It is true that my client-, arc mo,:t desirous to co-operate 

harmoniou,;ly with Mr. Haney whw1 l\Ir. Lash, rightly as I think, 
regard'- a:,; the ~trong man among,,t the Ea,-ttrn Members of the Board, and 
at the rccrnt mecting::i I undeffbnd my client-, gave evidence of sud1 dr,ire. 
But it wa,: quite clear to me that they would not for a moment be content 
with an invc,,tigation to br condurtcd by the Board at present con:,tituted." 

A. Yl'R, I f Paturrd that yesterday in my evidt,nce. .I 
Q. ::-o those people did want an invc;-;tigation ?-A. Th~T did, but they :-t.1ted 

that they would not for a momPnt be content with an investigation to be conduct­
ed by the Board as at prc:-rnt constituted. 

Q. You say that thc~e people did not wani an invc:5tigation?-A. They did 
not want an investigation, a-; foey say, under the Board as at present constit,uted. 

Q. Well what kind of un in n•,atigation did they want ?-A. Well, their letter 
will show. ThPy wanted an invcsti~atiun by the Finance Departnwnt. 

Q. You think they ·wanted an inve~tig:ition by the Finame Dt0 partment?­
A. Y cs, and th(;y said they would not be contrnt with an investigation to be run­
ducted by the Board as at pm,rmt con,tituted. 

Mr. l\foLAlTGHLIN: So that di:5posC'R of the quc,ation your lord,:hip a-;ked. 
The "\Y 1·1NES8: That is F eLruary 18th. 
::\Ir. McLAUGHLIN: Then the letter continue,-:-

"It wa::l decidPd, indeed, that after Mr. Crerar returned I was to 
prepare a communication to be ~ent to you, expre:-sing most strongly their 
de,ire that a special audit of the bank's affairs-touehing e::,pecially the 
larger account~ in the Toronto office-should be directed by the Finance 
Department." 
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A. That was their requrst, that is in their letter. They stated they would not 
br content with an investigation Jo be conducted by the Board as at present. 
constituted. 

Q. We will just shorten this matter, Sir Thomas, by doing as little arguing 
a-o posRible, just getting at the fact~. His lordship will draw the inferences.-
A. That I am anxious to do. " 

Q. Then the letter continues:--
"Thrse accounts would include eRpecially the Frost, the Prudential, 

and the Barnard accounts." 

A. Yes, the three accounb or four; the Frost, Prudential and Barnard. It' 
doe;; not say the Pellatt. 

Q. It docs not ,,ay Pellatt here. A;; to the other they say that it should be 
fully inve~tigat.ed notwithstanding the settlement that had been reportPd to them 
reC'ently . It will be clear now, from what I have already ac,kPd, that they were 
not merely asking for an invl-tigation of these three ac1 ounts, but a general 
invr~tigation of the affairs of the bank.-A. A special audit of the bank's affairs 
i~ what they a:,ked for. 

Q. A special audit of the bank's. affairs?-A. Y cs. 
Q. Another point that they were anxious about iR this. At page 82:-

" My diPnt,,:: were anxious that at onre ,;;ome fresh blood should be 
introduced into the general management." 

It was suge;ested that Mr. jAd:iir should take the positlon and it says they 
were greatly disappointed that the Board refused to do this.-A. That is in the 
letter. 

Q. So they ,wre entirely dissatisfied with the management.-A. Apparently 
::u. 

Q. And they were not ,-..:1ti::ifil·d with the appointment of the Assistant General 
Manager a'3 Ol'neral Manager, they wanted new blood'?-A. They said tr.ey 
wanted new blood. 

Q. And they suggc~ted Mr. Adair at that time'?-A. They did in t!1is letter. 
Of course I had not the power of appointment of the l\Ianager or of the Assista11-t 
Manager. That waR for their Board. · 

Q. X ow I take the next Exhibit, at page 83 :-
"They very decidedly approve the view expressed in Mr. Lash's 

telc gram referred to in ID)' lettPr, to the effect that a full investigation is 
required. This, of roursc, they understand to mean a full invc::;tigation 
of the bank's affairs generally, including the act-, and conditions that have , 
led to the present situation." 1 

;:-;o there is no doubt then what thesr Directors wanted ?-A. Not at that. stage . 
Q. And they arc pquaI1y firm in their contention that "under the circum­

~tancl-; disclosed. . . it will be wholly unsatii,factory to have an investigation 
miirle by the Board as at prc:;;cnt constitutcd."-A. Ye:;;, I think I called atten­
tion to that yesterday. 

Q. At the bottom of the ~ame page 83:-
"They ask me further to say that having regard to the past history 

of the general management, as well a'3 that of the Toronto office, and 
having regard a}so to the general management's failure to make an in­
speetion of that office until. h;;;t summer, they are not content even in the 
meantime to have the general management wholly left as it now is. They 
were, in fact, very greatly disappointed that ~\fr. Haney took the attitude 
he did, as they were hoping that he would see his way to meet their 
wif'hes on that point, at all events.'' 

A. That is in the communication. 
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Q. A little furthG down:-
"My clients anxiety, however, is' about the handling of, and dealing 

with, the prrsrnt larp:e ae<'mmb, and as to thesR the fir;..t requisite. in 
their judgment is to grt at the actual fo<'t'>, and in their judgmrnt this 
<·annot be effectively c.done undn an inn:-;tigation by the prPsrnt Bo~ml." 

A. That is right. 
Q. "Re:-:pccting the Barnard account, my elienh realizr the delic~tey of the 

situation, seeing that it has been "rttled, and that :Mr. Barnard is now on the 
Board, hut tl1t·y cannot refrain from C'Xprff"'-ing thC'ir conYi<·tion as to the drsir­
abilitv of an inn-,tigation notwith:-:tanding the '-'dtlrm<'nt."-A. He had t'cttlcd 
his in.dPLtPdnPs:-- had he? I a,-;t'ume so from that. 

Q. Did you untler..,tand tbat ?-A. I do not ,ay that h~ a rm.ti er 0f 
memory. I am a::-king you from this: had r<·'? I do not know. 

~- Did you undcr,-tanrl, Sir Thoma-:, that the Barnard claim had b,·<'n really 
,ptt lPd '?~-A. As a mattrr of memory I do nor re<'ollrrt that at all, Mr. 1\frL:111~h­
lin. They ::;aid it was settled. 

Q. I will call your attrntion to tl:w dornmrnt--, that were brfore you at tl,e 
time. On the next pagC':-

"It is the hope of my clirnts that ) ou will be able to see your wa~· 
to direct a full inve..;tiption by an autlitor 1,ppointNl by your DPpart­
ment." 

A. Ye,, that i-, in there. , 
Q. Then \Ye will look at Exhibit 57 on page 88. Tlwt is a lctter to yuu, 

from Mr. Fisher in whi1·h he quote• his lcttC'r to :.\lr. Lw--h, a eopy of \Yhieh wa, 
sent to vou ?-A. YP:--. 

Q. 
0

That wa;; put un tliP grneral file. 
"My clirnt."', having prc,cnted their view wry fully and wr? frankly 

to the Finamr ::\Iini,tlr and to ypur,.rlf a- Cblf Coun~£•1 of 11w Br..nk, 
an' ent(rPly ,ufo-fied to leaw' thr matt<·r in l•i,- hmds and yourn to dl',·idc 
what action will be tal.rn." 

A. Yes, that is thr quotation. 
Q. Now I call yuur attl•ntion to Exhihit 124. Thi,- ldter was not before 

vou and did not of eour"'C affcd your k.nowh•dgt• 0f affairR 1tt that time. Thi,-: 
~as on January 3, l 918, and appe'ars at pag<• 235 oi No. 3 of the prol'Pt, lini•:-.~ 
A. You ml an tlH· lPtter from :.Ir. Crerar to Haney? 

Q. Ye.,, Mr. Crerar to 11r. Hanry. HP rt:,ign- from the dirreturat.p an,~ 
· l·~.plain, hi~ reason. Ti101 he ~uys :-

,, Our views have not rhangPd, and in n ~iring now from tlw B,,ar-1 I 
Y• ill :,;till entertain tlie hope that t:1c vi1~w,; we h.we :::n prr::-scd will, to :--nue 
l'Xtl'nt at least, br appruv,·,l hy you and actc•d upon by the Board." 

A. Yuu arc nnt '-luting tb,t I rr,cind that letter? 
Q. No, you die! not rC'reivc that; it did not come to you, but I am rallimi 

your attention to the fo,·1 that it :--ho\\,- '\Ir. Crrr.:tr's opinions harl not rhanged. 
Xow, :'.\Jr. Crerar brra111e a <olkairue of yours in the GovernrnPnt tlicn?-A. 
vVl'll, Mr. ;\lcLaughlin, I think about the (•nd d January or in January, 1918. I 
had a breakdov-m from overwork and I went to California for two or thrC'l' 
month:- and I thinl. Mr. :'.\frLP.·m \V,1"' al'h1g a, :'.\Iini:;:frr. 

Q. So you had not the opport'..mity nf any ronwr,ation with Mr. Crerar 
about that time?-A. Oh no, not at that time at all, bCC'ause I was aw:.iy. I <lo 

, rera'.l a <"1,ual c·onver~ation with :\Ir. Cnrar l,ut I think it wa~ in 1919. It 
wa:-- nisual and 11r. Crerar wa:-. a colleague of mine in the Union Government 
and it i,-; impo:=::c;ib!e for me to make any stutrment with rcg:.ird to what he :ouid 
tu mr, although I prr:--unally would like to rnake it. 
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Q. Xow I will call your attention to Exhibit 3, appearing at page 14, the 
Barnard loan. Your under::,tanding was, I think you told Illy a moment ago, 
that thi;; loan had been p:,:id in full ?-A. No, I did not say that, 'Mr. Mc Laughlin; 
I gathered tliat you. said that when you read it. You spoke of settlement. As 
a matter of IDf'IDory I do not recall any of these in detail, because it is eight , 
yearn ago. I am only dealing with them as they appear to me on the record. 

Q. That is quite rea:;onable, Sir Thoma,-.-A. This matter, as a matter of 
fl,<'t, has practically faded from my mind, exc~pt the high spots. 

Q. Then we will recall it to you. This i:,, a memorandum from Mr. Fi;;her 
to you, re Ba·rnard loan. and give,- an extract from tin: inspector's report:-

" $394,000, 2,662 sharrs Home Bank stoc~{ in name of Barnard and 
Pellatt in tru"t. No trust deed is held. Aftrr deducting the balanl c at 
the credit of the Banque Intcrnationalr ar·count, the :;tod-. will havr to 
rr.llize approximately 125 per cent to enable the bank to avoid a lo~,;." 

That looks on the face of it to be a loan on the security of the bank's stock, 
doc:; it no't ?-A. On the faer of it, yes. 

Q. That would be contrary to the Bank Act?-A. Yes,· but it was done, 
warn't it? 

Q. What i,-, that ?-A. It had occurred. 
Q. And tlu:t would ~how to you that the Bank \\ a~ muking loans, illt•g,ll 

loanR, contrary to the term:- of the Bank Act?-A. I would not be prepared to 
:--ay that offhand. 

Q. Oh, don't argue the matter; it is a-, plain there a:3 dayligM.--A. 1'\ow, 
1-Ir. :\fcLaughlin, you are a,king me a legal quc.,tion, and I want to give you 
as fair a reply a:' I can. If I under,,tand the tran~a,·tiun, the Hofue Bank oi 
Ca11,uL1 took over the Banque Internationale. :Ntiw I do not know offhand, 
from reading that, berau~e I have not re11d it carefully, you undf're'bnd, 
,vhrthrr the Banque IntPrnationaH' held through tru;.:tee::i eert.ain f'hnres of the 
Home Banh. in tru::it or not; but if the Home Bank of Canada took over t!te 
Banque Internatim;iale-as it did-and tht,re were among the a~~vt~ <•f tlw 
Banqur Intrrnationalc certain s\iarr·s of t'.1r Home Bank, so that the Home 
Bank would then be<'ome thP pu,~c;;~or of them, I am n,Jt pn·pared to say off­
hancl-and I don't think you are-,y]1:.1t the !Pg.ti po~ition would be. It is a 
-very complil'atcd matt.er. 

Q. But tLcre would be no legal right for the Bank to lend more money to 
:.\Ir. Barnard to carry the ;;hare~. Tlwt, do<', not :cay that they are thC' property 
of thC' Home Bank.-A. '' It wa:0- exp!ainrd by Col. Ma;:on at, the 1'\uvember 
.meeting that ti.it- was an advance that had been made in :some way in connc"t10n 
with the taking over of the Banque Int,,rnationale, but we \'{ere unable tu p.;l't 
s.ttisfaetory explanations -,howing how tne loan came to be marle, or what tlH' 
ohjer·t of it wa:-. He al:co stated that the money w:,,-, in fact, advanced, in tht· 
fir:--t plaee by the Banque InternaConale and not by the Home Bank to Barnarr1. ·· 
Xuw, if the Home Bank took over the. Banqu<' Intern:1tionale, lawfully, a;; I 
IJclieve it did under the Bank Act, and if am<ing the a",-eb of the Banque Inter­
P:Jionalc tpcre ·were loan; secured by Homl' Bank •tock, I am not prepared tv 
:--.iy offhand, and I '-ay I don't think you wou!d, a~ to what \\'.l'i the legal po,-ition. 

Q. The Banque lntC'rnationale had no right to hold Home Bank "tock?­
A. I agn·e with that. 

Q. And they did not as a m:,tter of fad. That i:-- a mere rnggestion ?-A. 
\\'ell, I don't know that. 

Q. It did not come from the Banque Internation~le. The hi~tory of it, 
aernnling to the evidedrc, is that they adv,rnct·d the money to Barnard to buy 
the :,tock of the Banque Intrrnationale in the firf't plar-e, and that he bought 
74 per Cl·nt of the stoC'k of the Banque Internationale, and th:,t. thf'rr wa:-- a 
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trade of the stock, and the Home Bank stock came into his hand::: in lieu of the 
::;tock he previously held in the Banque Internationale. In both cat-es that was 
illcgal.-A. You are making that statement, but where is that? 

Q. I have it here in Mr. Clark,mn's report.-A. Oh, in Mr. Clark,on's 
report. But that rE'port was not brfore me. 

- Q. "\Ve are not arguing the mattrr. In rither case, it was not legal. It was 
not legal for the Banque Internationalr to hold Home Bank btock?-A. It wa,; 
not lawful under the Bank Act for the Banque Internationale to own Home 
Bank stock. 

Q. And thrre is no record at all thd they held any.-A. It b:.\ys :,o here. 
Q. But that of course is wrong. It will· be enough, Sir Thomas, for us to 

take the farts just as they are. That appeared on the face of it to Le an illegal 
loan.-A. Xo, I don't think f;O. It mny be. I will look at it again. It says 
that tri,C'y were unable to get sati:-,fartory rxplanations. And that a commission 
was to be allowtd Mr. Barnard for hi.; ,,crvice:-. Then at the top it is .:laid t:iut 
the 2.622 sluirrs wrrc hPld in the name of Barnard and Pellatt in trmt and that 
no tru--t det!d is held. I would say that if as a m:,ttPr of fatt the Home Bank 
had made a loan to ;Barnard upon its own sl,am,, that would be contrary to 
the Bank Act; but I am not prepared to .:lay, having regard to the way that 
that Home Bank r:-tock may have (;Ome into the hands of Barnard and PellaU 
in tru,-,t, in ronner·tion with the taking ovt:r of the Banque Internationale, what 
the lt·gal pot-ition would be, bC'<·au>e' I do not know the facts well enough. 

Q. Did you inw..;tig:ate it'?-A. Xo, I did not. 
Q. Then that d1::ipo::,es of that point. It was illPµ.al on it-, face and .you did 

not invc,-t:gatr it.-A. I would not "'t:y it Wt> illt t?;al on it-; face. 
Q. Tlwn we !!,U to Exhibit 6, page 19. In a letter from ,the General l\Ian­

agcr, Janw,.. Mason, to ~Ir. Crerar, of t11e 5th Januury, 1916, it i::i said that Mr. 
B:wrnnl made an offer of settlement of hi:- ac1·ount ,\ith the bank, whieh the 
D:rt·,·t~ir-, thought it ,vell to accept. Thrn thl' nat.ure of tl1e settl('mfnts is f,ho,, n, 
and Exhibit 7 abo s;Jiows tl1c naturP of that al 1Pgl·• l ,..ct,tlemPr•t. It ,:how., that 
tlie $391,000 had bePn redu<'ed to $262,200 and a note takrn from thr, Fidelity 
Tru-,t Company for that.-A. You t-t:lte that, but where do you find that, what 
paragr:lph? 

Q. On page 20, ne~tr the bottom of thP pagp it say:c- that Barnard ha~ be<.>n 
allowed a commi,..,..ion of ~91/i39, :ind tlwre has Dl't·n a (·omp!C'ite write-off to 0 
profit and Jo,--, of S57,430.-A. That i" apparently ;:;tated thrre. 

Q. 'Dhat would show a redueti0n of t hn '. a<'rount from ~411,000 down to 
$262,000. And the bank received in -octtll'ment of that account a note of the 
ridelity Tru-t Company fnr ~262,200.-A. That i-. in the ;-t;.1t<·m1•nt tliere. ThC'n 
Barnard has been allowed for commi-,,;;ion ~\H,000 and there ha~ been writkn 
off $57,430. 

Q. That show,; a los:- of $158,000?-A. Y c,;, part of ;t wa,; written off, 
$57,000 writtl:'n off apparently. 

Q. Tlwn you gut a report of the Fiddity Tru,;t Company, which is produced 
from your general file. You ,,;11 find that on page 85. It is ~aid that their 
affairs for ~ome time have bl•f•n brgrly in tl1e hand,, of K. C. E. Barnard and 
W. H. MrKeown and that the .Fidl-'iity Tru,;t have bl'en doing little of anything 
fur some time pa;:;t. It would not ~eem therefore that a note of the Fidelity 
Trust Company would be a scttlf'ment of that claim ?-A. Apparently from 
that ~Lltcmcnt the Fidelity Trust Company-

Q. Was about as bad a" it could be?-A. It W,l'l not in good condition that 
ic; dear. ' 

Q. And it w.a,; rontrulled by Barnard ?--A. So it .,tates. 

.. 
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Q. Mr. Clarbon in his evidence says there was no :;:cttlement, that it was 
a mere play on words, a change of name. They had the note of the Fidelityi 
Trust Company guaranteed by Barnard?-A. Yes, and what about the ~ank 
:;tock that you mentioned? Was there any bank stock? 

Q. The bank stock remained in the name of the Fidelity Trust Company. 
Then we look at Exhibit 42, page 74, which is another :;:tatement of this settle­
ment, in somewhat different terms. That wa,, in your posse:;:sion also:-

" This indebtedne;,,-, disputpd by 1\fr. Barnard. He claims he was 
acting as agent for the bank, and not lilable for the ,gbove amount or any 
portion of it." 

That information was all before you ?---A. I as,-ume so, becau,5e it has bren 
filed from t!he Department; but I told you all through, I haven't it in my mind 
now as a matter of memory. 

Q. I undrrstand that; I do not expert you to remember it, but it was all 
before the Department at the time. That was the di"po,:,ition of a claim of 
$394,000 which was increa1:,ed t-0 $411,000, and Mr. Clarkson's evidence would 
apparently support Mr. Barnard's contention that he was only an agent, because 
the stock was afterwards taken over by Mr. Daly and a loan obtained from 
Amrrican banks on it, and the ba.nk partially repaid, making another loH of 
$150,000 in the final ;;Pttlement.-A. I ha Ye not seen Mr. Clarkson's report; I 
do not know what it is. ' 

Q. This is in the evidenee that is printed. Mr. Clarkson's evidence is at 
page 260. He s.1ys in effect: The loan of the Fidelity Tru5t was $262,500. 
There ,vns about $2,150 of intrrest added to it at the time. There may have 
been an accrued dividend at t!1e time. Making about $264,600. Mr. Daly 
borrowed $187,000 from American banks, from the Citizens' Comrhercial Trust 
Company of Buffa 1o, on the 2,600 shares. He depo~itcd that amount to the 
crcdiit of hi,- arrount, and he sent a cheque for $78,660 down to L. C. Herdman 
at Mont,·eal, the Fidelity Trust secretary. Herdman returned it to the bank. 
He acted in tliis connection for the Prudential Trust. That is $78,660. Then 
Mr. Daly gav~ his cheque for $120,000 odd on his own acc9unt. The bank\ 
eontingent fund wa::, ehargNl w'th $65,000, which ultimately turned out to be a 

, lo::;s. It was repaid out of the borrowing of the Manufacturer::;' Holding Com­
pany whirh Ju-; not been paid to thi;; date. That is a Daly company. So that 
t,hat $264,000 was paid to the extent of $187,000 by borrowirig from American 
banks, and $12,900 I thtnk by Daly's overdrawing his acL:ount. 

~o this account wm, supposed to be sett.led. \Yell, I suppo:-;e, on the whole, 
you would think that the Wr.;;trrn Directors were ju::,tified in asking for an 
invc.,tigation of that account under this alleµ;ed settlrment ?-A. The Western 
Directoreo \\ ere ju,-tified in drawing tho..,e matter!3 to my a:ttention. 

Q. And you cerL1inly were not, :-;afofic·d with the dispos1t10n of that a1,;<•ount? 
-A. I could not ;.ay that as a matter of memory, Mr. ::\il"Laughlin, berau:-e I 
haven't it in my mind. It was the least important ·of the four arl'ounts. 

Q. But it was over $400,000?-A. And there wa.-. bank stork as ,:ecurity. 
Q. And the loi'S of that $400,000 would ,;eriou..,ly impair the bank's capital? 

-A. It would be a seriou~ loss. A marginal lop.:; oYer and wbove what the bank 
stock would realize if ,,old. 

'Q. Now we will take tlie memo as to the Prudential Trust, Exhibit 2. You 
inw::;tiw,ted that abo?-A. It was drawn to my attention. I do not know that 
I invrstigatecl it. I ealled for a report upon it. 

Q. At page 4 it is 1:,tated as a loan of ~500,000, but the other documents 
show that it wm; $694,000:~ 1 

" The security held again:-;t this was a depm,it of $500,000 from the 
Prudential Trutit Company. The que-;tion was at once raised as to how 
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it r:,me to be that the Tru:c:t Company had dcpo:;ited $500,000 with tlw 
bank and had imme1liately borrowed it ag;ain, and it wa~ explained that 
thi,.; depo:-;it < 011-.i:--tPri of Tru,.;t Fund;; of the New Brun;;wick Governm<'nt 
which the GovernmPnt had lodgPd with the Tru-.;t Company, that the 
Trust Company dr~in rl to loan $500,000 to a New Orleans Railway ron­
errn, but either bceau,;e of the limiLltions of their charter or under thr 
,nndition upon which they had received the money from the New Bruns­
wi1·k Government, they could not ;ao lo.rn thc,.;e partieula.r funds. The 
arran<.1;tmP11t wa,.; then m~de wh1·reby the Tru,:t Comp:rny depo~ited the:'P 
funds in the e'ank upon the und!'f--tanding that tlw bank would loan the 
Trust Comp:rnv 8500,000 to enable it to give the advance to the XPw 
Orleans Railway in qU<.:-tion, taking t 11crefor a note uf the Trust Com­
pany, and as col'.ateral the first mort•i;ag,· bond;,, of tr.<' New Orlrans, 
~,mthrrn & I :ranJe J~ll' Railway whil'!1 was the Railway con1·,·rn in 
qur.;;tion, :-c1id bond~ havin_!!; been givE'n to the Trust Company to :;el'ure 
their loa.n. The Railway was reprc:,:cntrd to u:; a" ·<serving a rapidly grow-

• ing di:-triet adjacent to New Orlean;;. The General :Manager ali"o clearly 
:,:tatcd and ,v:,.~ quite emphatic on the point that the loan was ~p1•ured 
by the dcpo,-,it of th<' Trust Funds. This was que,-,tioned by Mr. Prr:o-P, 
but the General -:\1:rnagrr in--i:-tt·d that it was the case." 

That of < ours<' would. rai--c your ,-u:-p:1ion at orn•f' '? Thry had no businrc--.; 
to :oernre a loan by Xew Brunswick Tru.,t fund~'?-A. I don't know that. It 
dPpcnd., on the krms of thr t ru ,ct deed. 

Q. It would strike you af- rn;;pil'iom,?-A. I would not say tl1at. 
Q. You would not be su-pi('ious of that'?-A. I don"t think so, for bi.:: rea:-on: 

tru:ot c-ompani~·s continually r<'ceive money in trust for inVl',-tment, and it dPpeml~ 
on th<' terms of the trust dcrd. Sometime;; they are ('Onfined t-0 tru:-t investment,;. 

Q. I don't tliink you were quite a,-, credulou, as that, Sir Thoma:-. Do you 
think the Provinn· of New Brunl'wi<k would giv,e tliPir money in tru:-t in that 
way ~o that thi-, company could u~e it as :-ecurity .or mon(.'y that they were 
going to lend to a New Orleans railway'?-A. I don't know wlwtl:cr they did 
or not. 

Q. Of eourse you don't kn~w ab,-olutely'?-A. I don't know the ter~n;:; of the 
trust deed. 

Q. But you would :-ay the circum,tarn·e:,; were or Wl're not su,-pieious'?-A. 
The impre:<sion I have in my mind i.:: this: the que-:tion wa~ rai:<cd whethn it 
W;I" ultra vire~ of the Prudential, and I a,-;kcd :\Ir. Lash a.ftrrward;:: to look 

_ into that quc'-tion and :-er whether the tran,-;action was within the powers of the 
Prudential. That wa:,; the l<'gal point 

Q. Acrnrding to thi:- ~fatPmPnt made to you, Sir Thomas, this Truf't Com­
pany had takrn $500,000 of trust money of the Provirn·e of ~<'\\' Brun,;wick. 
They had drpo:-ited with the Home Bank that amount a, sceurity for S500 000 that the bank w,,,- going to give them to lend?-A. Did you :-ay they had 
dPpo:-ikd $500,000 with the bank as .-erurity for a loan of S500,000? 

Q. That i:- wh:,t thi-: :-tatcmrnt ~-IY~ herc.-A. I don't ~o undPr"Ltnd it. 
How could they depo,-,1t $300,000 with thP b:,nk at-i ;::erurity for S500,000 handt, I 
right back'? The "l'1·urity would be gon<'. 

Q. It ,-.ays: "The loan was f'l•rurcd by the dcpo,0it."-A. It is not very dt :tr 
wl1:1t it mc:ms. It might be that the lo.m that they were making wa:s on the:-l' 
::--;cw Orlean:; bond~, but that i:,; a complieated quc::tion. 

Q. I don't think, ~ir Thomae-, that you should arg;ue this matter with me.­
A. I undrn,tand that you are rai::,ing a legal quP,-tion. I am not arguing it with 
you but I do not want to make any ,-tatement unl<'H ;::upport•cLl by the fact;::. 
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Q. Thi,; memorandum does show tlu,t the,-e Directors under:;tood that that 
loan of $500,000 was f'e<;urrd by the "Ke-w Brurn,wick drposit?-A. The m£•mo­
ranclum sllows what it sav:S. 

Q. All right \\e will ·t:,ke it at that.-A. Tlmt mm;t' b,e so, 9ut whether t!rnt 
was the fact? 

Q. And it did not raise any ::mspicion in your mind at all ?-A. It did not 
1·ai:,1e any suspicion except as to the que;stion of the ultra vires of the tran;;:1rtion, 
whil'h had been rai:=:ed. I think §ou will find that some place. 

Q. That is raised later on. ·what rnrpri,-d me is that you did not suspe{'t 
that tlwrc rrtu:-t be something wrong when they took $300,000 of the Province of 
:--Jew Brunswick fund;; and pledged them for their own purpose~.-A. Under the 
terms of the Bank Act I asked the Board for a full report on tlto:,;e matters. 

Q. What is that ?-A. I r:sked the Board under section 113 for a full report 
upon thi,- and I got it. I insi4ed on getting it and I got it. So it is wrong to 
say what you do. 

Q. Then wr will follow thi"- line up a little bit further. You say you were 
not su,.;pirious at all?-A. No, I won't s,,y that I was not suspirious. I was 
di,-turhed by these large amounts and by the qUf:-'tion of the matter of ultra 
Yim- of the Prudential being raised. The ,:;ame wfth the Fro::-t account and the 
~ame witl1 the Pellatt account. 

Xow look at Exhibit No. 19, page 35. Thi,,, is one of the letters that wu,­
lwfore you, filed with you by Mr. Fi~her. It is from Mason to Crerar. 

""\Vhat is of -more :-crious tonc;equenl'e, grave doubt:; are arising as 
to t 11e finanrial ability of the trust company. It is repr~ented from 
sources which cannot be ignored that the company have their funds pretty 
wrll locked up and it now seems quite po:osible that we may be obliged to 
rely upon the :-ecurity to a more or less extent." 

A. Ye:;;, that is there. 
Q. So then you had information that the Trust tompany WilH not in good 

fin:rnl'ial :,;hnding?-A. It is so ,:uggested by this letter without doubt. 
A. I think you will find that I stated that I might have to investigate the 

Trust Company. 
Q. You will notice in the earlier Exhibit we read that this was al"o to be 

:-PcurPd by the deposit of $750,000 first mortgage bonds of New Orleans and 
:::out!.£,rn & Grand Isle Railway?-A. Ye:-:. 

Q. This was also before you. (Exhibit 26, page 43) :-

"Re Hoivrn BANK AXD PuuDE::-.'TIAL Tut·sT COMPANY 

" }vf unorandum to accompany the attached lrttPr to (' olonel Mason 

" Mr. Adair'., repurt upon the in,,prrt.ion of the Toronto branch puts 
tlie amount of this loan at $695,000, and states that the proceeds of 
$200,000 is represented by a dPpo:,;it ret·eipt for a similar amount lodgPd' 
with the Ontario Government." 

Then on page 44 :-
" Mr. Adair speakR of !he security aR being $750,000 bonds New 

Orleans, Southrrn & Grand Ide Ry. Co. Thi:- is apparrntly, the Com­
pany referred to as the " Steam Railway " in• 1Ir. Adair's report, made 
after going to ~cw Orlean-; (and will be referrrcl to in this memorandum 
hereafter as "the Steam Railway Company"). 

" ~Ir. Adair's report on the inspection al:50 states that the Bank books 
show that $350,000 of thet-e bonds are owned by Mrs~rs. Warren, Bri:;:tol 
& Morden, and the remaining $400,000 by the Railway Company. \Ve 
do not understand this to mean that only the $400,000 of the bonds is 
held by the Bank as security? 
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"Apparently, Mr. Adair's rrport would mean that the SN'urity bond,; 
are bonds of thr Steam Railway Company, though a letter of Pre;:ident 
Mason to Mr. Crerar, dated 16th November, speaks of the security a,; 
being a " street railway in Al(?;ier;;." \Ve may a,;o::ume in the meantime 
that they are really bonds of the Steam' Railway Company. Presumably 
the Street Railway Company, referred to in Mr. Mason's letter, is one 
of the two companies referred to in the reports of Mr. Anglin and Mr. 
Adair as the "Algins Railway & Light Company" and the "New 
Orleans & Western Railway Company." 

Then on page 46:- ' 
" As to the suggestion that a certain ' Howard ' estate as owner of 

the First bonds of the Steam Road may commence litigation, what is the 
explanation." 

It scrms then from the investigation you made that the'lc wrre not fir:-,t 
mortgage bond::! as stated in tl1e original rcport?-A. Well, whatever is in this 
report, I do not know. 

Q. Them was a prior issue of bonds to the Howard estate. Now we look 
at Exhibit 28, page 49 :-

In that case you will see that Mr. Lu,,h a,lvir::r<, the rompany against putting 
any further money into it, that is without the af'sistance of the Trust Com­
pany. Isn't that right ?-A. The letter is here, read what is in it. 

Q. On page 54 it is shown that the bteam railroad is subjert to a prior 
mortgage of' $512,000. 

::\Ir. fa;E: What paragraph? 
Mr. :'.\lcLA"CGHLIN: Paragraph 11. I might summarizr: it appears from 

th<,~e reports abo that the ,:team railway wa,; the owner of the etork of the 
ekctric ro:t<l", and that tl,r srrurity for the $750,000 bond,- was a pledge of the 
f-tO!·k uf the ekrtric roads?-A. I will take it for grankd that you are corref•t. 

Q. And that there "as a prior mortgage on the electric roads,. an i~sue of 
bond:,; of 8300,000?-A. I do nut know that, if you say it is in there that is 
safr~fadory to me. 

Q. Well that i,-, all i--t:itcd. And that $254,000 of thrse bondR were pledged 
to one Carroll for $180,000?-A. Well I as;:-ume you are quoting from that. 

Q. And that the other indebtedness against the eleC't.ric roadR ,rn,; about 
$50,000?-A. I as.-umc that is ;:,O. I am not following in this exhibit because in 
fart I cannot find the place. , 

:.\Ir. LEE: Paragraph 11, page 54. 
:'.\Ir. :'.\icLAlGHLIN: Now they had employed a firm of ~nlicitors in New 

OrlP~m:-, to report on this matter, Mee=-r'-', MerriC'k, Gon>'lrr & Schwartz, you will 
find their report on page 62. 

"Mr. A. W. ANGLIN, 
'' New Orleans, La. 

"DEAR Sm,--,As regard:- the rightf- of the Home Bank of Canada 
against the Xew Orlean" & Ship !.:land Railroad and the Algiers Railway 
and Light Company, we are ,;orry to i'ay tliat we ran :,.ee very little 
po,:c;ibility of the Bank's recovery of any re"pectable part of its inve.;;t­
ment." 

A. Thut is correct. 
Q. That is a pretty bad report?-A. It was wi~:iout any doubt, and I :,;o 

ref:ardcd it. 
Q. I know you did.-A. I regarded it as a bad report, then the qurstion aro:,;e 

as to the value of the guar'antee of the Prudential, the ult.ra vire-, quc.5tion. 

' 

Ill 
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.Q. You know the Prudential disputes the liability altogether?-A. I under­
stood they did at that time, that is the rea::ion why I asked Mr. Lash to look into 
that matter. 

Q. But you were inv.estigating the claim of $694,000 and found that as far 
a::; the real security was concerned it had been reported on as about no good ?-A. 
Well these reports were there, and then there was the question of the Prudential 
guarantee. 

Q. And the Prudential was reported to be-?-A. Reported to be not finan­
cially strong. 

Q. And it was disputing its liability altogether?-A. I understood it was. 
There is no question that I regarded this loan as one on which a very substantial 
Joss might be taken, and my corre::-pondence so states. There is no doubt about 
that. 

Q. Now the bank sent Mr. Adair, their supervisor, down to report on the 
matter, and his report is Exhibit No. 39 on page 65. He says at the lower part 
of the page:-

" The question of the validity of the. bonds held by the Bank, as 
security. According to the minutes, the New Orleans, Southern & Grand 
hie Ry. Co. contributed more bonds in various sett!ements than they 
received from the Trustee. 

" The question of transfer or assignment of franchi,:e,,. The terms of 
the framhises call for approval of the municipal authorities. 

"The possibility of the Howard Estat1:,, who are owners of the first 
bond::; on the steam road, commencing litigation. 

" In the following report I have left out of consideration entirely the 
steam railroad property. Everyone interviewed agreed that there was 
nothing possible from this property, beyond the first bondholders, who 
would not likely receive more than 50 cents on the dollar." 

A. I assume that is there. 
Q. Then he values the other railway,- puts the total construction value at 

$200,000, franchises $200,000, he says it is uncertain but he puts it down at that. 
He makes the prior .indebtedne,-s-" Liabilities coming ahead of us amount to 
$265,000. To this may be added $8,000 to $10,000 nece::-fiary repairs. . . . 

"I would feel safer, owing to the uncertainty as to the amount of repair work 
nece.;sary, and to the condition of the prernnt rolling stock, to place total liabili­
ties .at $300,000. It, therefore, docs not :-ecm a proprr thing to me for the Bank 
to put any further amounts into this proposition without at least a material 
assistance from the Prudential Trust Co., and find itself operating a railway at 
so great a distance with the prospects of a comparatively small profit." · 

So we find their own supervisor advising against putting any further money 
in.-A. Yes. 

Q. Then we have Mr. Anglin's report, who also went down there. He reports 
an indebtedness of $266,000 against the electric road, and a considerable amount 
of expenditure necessary for improvements. He values the construction at ,,ome­
thing similar to Mr. Adair, and he says:-

" On the whole, I should myself be somewhat skeptical as to the 
existence of any very con:3iderable value in tpe franchi:;es at the present 
time." 

A. Yes. 
Q. He also reports against the security or against the bank putting any more 

money in. . 
Then were you aware that these properties went into the hands of a 

Receiver?-A. I think I am aware of that but I am not quite eertain. It is in 
my mind that at some stage there was a Receivership and reorganization. 

78093-2 
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Q.., Before I go furfoer I might also refrr io Exhibit ~o. 41 un page 73 in 
whi<·h he ::,ays:-

" 1. Mr. Lai'h 8tatrd that the mrtt7,cr was primarily one for the Bank's 
Board to clf·terminr. He felt in;;t.inefr, ely, however, on the whole situa­
tion, that the l3oacd should deride not to make the new advan<'es whirh 
would be requirrd to p:rv off or Like over the Carroll loan and otlwrwi--l' 
look after the Al~ier-; <:ituation." 

A. Ye,.:. 
Q. So when the road wmt into the hands of a Receiver and the property 

wa, purrhu,::ed by the prior encumbrancer the bank rrceived nothing out of theFe 
,ecuritic•"!-A. WPII I do not know that, if you will tell me so I accept it. 
I hope you are not trying to sl:ow that I regarded that as a good loan. All mv 
correi;::pcmdence shows the contrary. 

Q. Then the bank sub--equently after lo>-ing this security altogether, before 
they reported to you in 1918, bouirht for ~235,000 the new ,Feruritie::; of the 
reurganiz?d Algier:- road?-A. I do not think that figure was brought to my 
attention. 

Q. I do not think it was.--A. What wa:a :-tated wac; thi", in the unanimou, 
report of the Ro:,.rd which wai;:: :-ent to me by ::\Ir. Haney I think it was i;:tatr,d 
that they had acquired a substantial equity; and Mr. Lash then advi-:ed me 
that having acquired that equity there would be no 10",; on the account, and they 
wuuld have t:1e liability of the Prudential to the good. 

Q. I do not think :'.\Ir. Lash went ,.:o far a-; to advi:.ae you that, I think he 
said Mr. Haney repc,rtf .I so.-A. ,v ell possibly yes, that they had obtain<>rl 
a "Ub~tantial equity-I am quoting from memory-but I think I am right. 

Q. Well, ti1e fact ir:, they Loug;lit the electrir road ?-A. Ye,;, but for how 
mu<'h I do not know, but they had arquired an equity whirh they said would 
put the bank in a position in which it would su:,tain1 no lo,.:,.:. 

Q. They lo"t their origin:.11 -,ecurity entirely?-A. But they had an equity, 
tlwy acquired an equity. 

Q. ThPy lo~t their original -ecurity entirely, ex<'ept the guarantee of thP 
Prudential Tru,-;t Company, then thr,y made a new invostment of $235,000 in 
buying the securitir~ of the reorganized electrir road.-A. \Vell, that figun' 
,, ,1,- not brought to my attrntion, but I did \mow they had acquired an equity, 
at lrn,t thrv told me so. 

Q. And· in~H:ad of writing off the original debt they carried it on ?-A. As 
prrrt of the original trsn-.:action. · 

Q. But in their book-; i'1ey kept thc,m a.; separute transactions, bec;.iuse 
they could not hold the Tru,-t Company to any guar~ntee on the subsequrnt 
tran,::action ?---A. "'Pll I do not know that, you know that. 

Q. The re~ult i,- tk: year:; have paf':'rd by, the Trust Company ha<; always 
di.~puted their liabil:ty, what effect the Statute of Limitations would have we 
do not know.-A. You do not want me to advife you legally, do you? 

Q. No. We appreciate now that the whole thing was a rotten banking trans­
adinn?-A. \\rell you U~l' rather extrrmr language but if you look at my letter .. 
you will :,re that I did not re~ard it a-; a proper loan in the first im,tance, I thought 
there might be a heavy loc'.· in connection with it, how much I could not say. 

His LORDSHIP: l\Ir. Ch;rkson says t.hat a better account to-day, doesn't 
he? I do not know what he meant by that, he wa:, not pres:;,ed to give par­
tirular:-.-A. I am going to suggest, if I may, to counsel for the Government 
tliat Mr. Clark"'on be rt>-ked in regard to that, because I have information that 
that a~~d is a very valuable one. 

His LORDsarp: It :;:truck me at the time, it went right into my memory, 
I intended to ac::k him but: it slipped my mind. 

,, 
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J\Ir. McLAl:GHLIN: ,Ye did ask Mr. Clarkson but he .objected, ,,aid he 
wa.,; trying to sell the road and did not want to give particulars.-A. I think 
that is a matter that ought to be looked int.o. But at the same time I do not 
put that forward as having any bearing on my t<tate of mind in 1916 because I 
rc-,rnrd it as a b:.id loan that should not h:we bern made, and I expected that 
they would make a marginal loss, how much I did not know. 

Q. You would come to the conclu:::ion from the information before you 
that there was nothing in the road itself?-A. I cannot 3ay as a matter of 
memory but if you ask me to surmi:::,e now a:;; to ,yhat I did think then I should 
say that I woulq have the idea that there was comparatively little value m 
what they had then, and that the Prudential guarantee was an important one 
and the que:;tion of ultra Vires wa.,; an important one. 

Q. But with the Trmt Company's liability being disputed and also their 
financial condition being questionable--A. It was a nasty situation of cour'lP. 

Q. You would not consider it a goo,l banking loan ?-A. Of course not, I 
have said so time and again in my correspondence. I st.1ted that these three 

big loans were very disturbing. , 
Q. Now in connection with the Barnard loan, they did not give you any 

information at any time that when they settled up thi,:; loan they commencPd 
lending money to Mr. Barnar.d again?-A. I never heard of it. 

Q. And at the time of the liquidation the loan to Mr. Barnard and to com­
panie:-- formed by him .amounted to a million and a half dollar:;?-A. I never 

l•eard of it. 
Q. And acrnrding to ~he liquidator at least $1,300,000 was a total los:;;?­

A. ,vhen was that large advance made? 
Q. From time to time, I rould not givq you the dates at present.-A. You 

do not sugge,-t t11 at any of that was brought to my attention? 
Q. I do not think you knew anything about it.-A. You are quite right in 

thinking so. 
Q. That is one of the t11ing-, they did not inform you about, they deceived 

you in connection with it.-A. I would not like to say "they" becam,e aftPr all 
"they" is a pretty general term. Someone may have deceived me. You say 
"tliey'' dereived me, who do you mean by "they"? 

Q. Well I mean the information that came to you?-A. Yes no doubt about 
that. I think so without doubt. 

Q. According to all the reportc; that came to you the bank was progressing 
and gqtting strongee all the time'!-A. All the reports that came to me were that 
the bank wa5 prop;re:;;:-ing, doing well, had a liquid position, and that these three 
large loans were the only things that seriously dif'turbed my mind, and while I 
thought there would be lo>-~e~ on one or more it was a, marginal situation, how 
much they would lo:;;p, I did not know. 

Q. You did not anticipate that there would be the tragedy that has taken 
place. I quite aP,ree with you there.-A. Not th'e slightest. 

Q. And when the reportc; WPre made to you from time to time you believed 
them?-A. I not only believrd them but in fact had the distinct impre":lion that 
after Mr. Daly went in the Home Bank was doing well, it increased its 
dividend, and was on its way to prosperouc, conditions. 

Q, It incrPafied its dividend the h,t year when its lo.;"es according to Mr. 
Clarkson went into the millions?-A. Yes. 

Mr. LE.E: Did you say doing well or had done well?-A. That the bank 
was doing well. The0 impref':;;ion I had after I went out as Mini:;ter was that the 
bank was doing well, that Mr. Daly had put in money of his own and was doing 
well. 

Q. And that was wrong?-A. 'Undoubtedly. 

780\!3-2½ 
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Q. And the impression given to you from time to time while you were in 
that it was improving was wrong too?-A. Wrong in fact yes. 

Q. As I said a few minutes ago, I am not questioning your good faith.-A. 
I know that, I have always regarded you as a pretty fair man. 

Q. Now the Frost loan, you had information in connrrtion with that?-A. 
Yes plenty of information in detail. 

Q. Did you have its history?-A. I had its history. 
Q. You knew how it sbrted ?-A. Yes. 
Q. Anll you knew that in order to get the loan on the::.e British Columbia 

Timber Limits Mr. Frost had practically given the bank, a::; far as his security, 
his notes were concerned, half a million dollars bonus?-A. Just explain that. 

Q. He bought $650,000 of Chic-ago & Milwaukee Wisconsin Divi,,ion.-A. 
Yrs that is years ago. 

Q. Whieh were only worth 15 cents on the dollar, for ninety?-A. It turned 
out to be that. They wrre 1-old in Toronto rxtcn,-ively to many institution-,. 

Q. I know all about them, I had 13ome my:,;elf.-A. You don't say so. I 
thought you had more <,rnse. 

Q. But at the time, in order to get the loan from the Home Bank he bought 
them at ninety though they were only worth arcording to l\Ir. ClarkRon's 
evidc,nce from fifteen to twenty at thr out.c:ide?-A. I have not seen Mr. Clark-
::;on's evidence. , 

Q. ,vell you had the history of it?-A. Thc•y took the timber limits in 
substitution for the Milwaukee bonrls. 

Q. Well Mr. Frost was not liable on the Milwaukee bonds, it was Osborne 
& Francis?-A. Yes. That was long before my time you know. I do not mean 
before I was born, but before I was :Minister. 

Q. Would it not strike you as somewhat suspicious that Mr. Frost would 
purchase these bond" from them at ninety when he could get them in the open 
market at fifteen or twenty?--A. It was rlrarly a sub$titution of timber limits 
for the bond'l which had gone bad. 

Q. But previously it was not Mr. Frost's loan at all, he was under no 
obligation on the Chicago & l\iilwauker bonds or the Osborne & Francis loan, 
but he wanted a loan on timber limits and he said: If you will give me this 
loan on timber limits I will take the;:e bond:,; at ninety.-A. Well I do not know 
that, but if you say that-

Q. And in addition I will pay $82,000 arrrnrs of intere::;t on them. So as 
far as he was cpncerned he was giving half a million dollars bonus to get a loan 
on the timber limit-i.-A. Well you say ':30, I do not dissent from it. 

Q. And you had the hi--tory of that loan right along, that from the time it 
was made until the,,e report~ were :a;ent to you it had bern increa:c:ing from year 
to year?-A. Yes. 

Q. And practically nothing had ever been paid on it?-A. That is correct. 
Q. I believe there was a credit of $300 intere;;t and $1,200 principal at one 

time but Mr. Clarbon :,mys there was no money paid, it wa-, a book-keeping 
item dPdurted out of further loan/-A. I did not like the loan at all; if you 
read my letter to Me~c,re. Barnard and Haney you will see what I thought about 
it. Of rourse you understand I did not know how that loan would ultimately 
turn out, timber is a very curious investment, you may lose money or make 
money on it, it depends on conditions. 

Q. And in that loan it was not a proprr banking loan ?-A. I did not like 
it at all. 

Q. And there was part of it, as appears by the reports that were before 
you, on real estate?-A. I think if you will look at a certain ,,ection of the 
Bank Act they may loan on timber limit:; and licenses. '' 
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Q. But they may not loan on real e~tate?-A. That is right. 

Q. Part of this property was Crown grants?-A. Well timbei; limit" I 

assume. 
Q. There was timber on it but it ·was the land and all that was granted?-

A. Yes. , 
Q. And they valued the land after the timber was taken off at some $50 

an arr<', quite a large amount of security. They would not be authorized to 

invest in real e;:tate bee-a use the real e.,;tate had a large amount of timber on it? 

-A. \Veil that is a legal question on which you can advi8e better than I can. ' 

If you say s6 I take your word for it. 
Q. AP. a r0sult of the memorandum and other documents filed with you 

by Mr. Fisher you proceeded under 8ection 113 of the Bank Act to ask for a 

report ?-A. I did. 
Q. You al,:o decided that it would jtistify an inve-,,tig:1tion under section 

56A? --A. I asked the auditor to make a report to me. 
Q. That is under that section ?-A. Yes, 56A, without doubt I proceeded 

under the Bank Act. 
. Q. Well you might am,wer my question, you felt yourp.elf justified in asking 

for a rPport unrfor $e1·t.ion 56.\ .. of the Bank Act?-A. Ye,, undoubtedly, and 

e~lling on the Board and on the auditor. 
Q. Did you call on the auditor for a report under section 56A of the Act?~ 

A. Right. 
Q. Why didn't you call on an independent auclit,or instead of Mr:. JonP8?­

A. If I had put an independrnt auditor in the bank would have had to close itq 

door,:. 
Q. And that ,..-ould have be{'ll the best thing that could have happend.-A. 

That may be, but you liave- to take the situation as in 1918. 

Q. "\Vas that ren,lly nece:3sary ?- A. "'hat? 
Q. Could you nut have put a man into the bank without closing its doors? 

-A1,"N o ;;ir. -
" Q. Sir Henry Drayton differ" from you ?-A. No matter if he dors ;-ju:;t 

a moment; I had under the Bank Act aut 11ority to call for a report from the 

Board. _ 
Q. I know that, there is no necc.•~ity to reprat it.-A. I hah :-ome rights 

as a witneP.s, I am going to have this rleared up, I am not arguing with you but 

I am telling you what I did. Undrr the Bank Act I had authority to rall for 

a report from the auditor appointed by the shareholders and selcctrd from a 

panel who had been pasP.ed by the General Managers of all the bank::' in Canada. 

And I called on the Board and on the auditor for a report, and I do not believe 

at the present moment that it crossed my mind to do anythine; else, because in 

the firp.t instanre I would do that anyway, I would never think of putting in a 

special auditor in a bank and taking chance;;, Pc-pecially at a time like that, of 

1•losing the bank. ' 

Q. Well we have bren owr all that bef0re. I will he absolutrly fair, but 

we would gPt along fa-:ter if you would answer my questions. I will look after 

your reputation, it doern't require any looking after anyway.-A. I am glad 

to hear you P.ay that, but I want the facts in, and right. 
Q. Well lrt me hrwe my ·way a little while and let us com,e to this point. 

You dC'rided that you should ha Ye a report under section 56A ?-A. Yes. 

Q. That is the settion authorizing you to have that report by an auditor 

1-ckcted by you ?-A. Either the auditor appointed by the shareholders or an 

auditor appointed by me. ~ 

Q. The Statute does not say the auditor appointed by the shareholderf-. 

-A. Will you be good enough to allow me to have the Statute, you are asking 

what is in the Statute, I want it read. 
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Q. (:3r!t-tion 56A read). So ynu ha<l thr powrr eithPr to tal,.:e the bank's 
own auditor or a11otl1rr auditor?-A. Tli;•t is what I ,aid. 

Q. That is wlrnt I said too so there is no differcrn·c brt\YcLin us. And you 
a-,kcd for an audit by the bank's own auditor undt•r tbt section ?-A. I did. 

Q. Wl1ich undrr the eircum--tarn·r,: of t hi-, rn-.:r wa::: unfurtunate?-A. I do 
not know that. Would you like me to tell you why? 

Q. That awlitor, I nuti<·e by the Ac-t, is to Lr, paid out of tLe run-;olidated 
fund ?-A. Ye.;, to make him indrpcndent. 

Q. Did you PWr pay him anythini!;9-A. In thi~ particular transaction? 
Q. YP,;.-A. Xu, a,; fo, as I know t'.H· :natt£r ,vas harmonized \Yhrn the 

Ro:~rd wa-; harmonized and thr report., rrrciveJ from the B•iaril. That matter 
\H•nt by the hoard, he never put in a bill. · 

Q. So while you dirert.f, l the audit unc!rr sP<tion 56A y,m never rercived 
one ?-A. I rereived an audit of the Frost account. 

Q. Ju--t the ,:tatemrnt from the lrdgrr?-A. Well that is what apprars in 
the -e exhibit.--. It is not in my mind that I rrrPived anything eh,e but I m11,y 
have. But I do not say I did. 

Q. There is nothing el,e in the exhibitF-. Tbt of course was not the kind 
of independent audit that thr.,r dirPctor;; wanted ?-A. :X ot up to a certain 
stagr. up to a certain :--ta~e thev wantrLl an indrpendent auciit. 

Q. And thi.,; was tlw auditor wl:o had certified to the various reports of 
till' hn.nk from year to yrar?-A. Yes. 

<i. So to rn,k him for a further st::ttPmcnt would be to merely a1=k him t<1 
>l'Ld in his prrviou,- report or Pl~e ~how hr wa,: wrong?-A. I do not think so. 
thr previou,-;: rrport dealt witi1 genprn] ar(·ount:', I a,-,krd him for a report in all 
fittrng det:iil. 

~- Anyway the rrport was never rert>ivrd, except this-A. Apparrntly not. 
Q. You did not t,bink it nere,sary to g;et that report aftt:r you found tlw 

Bonn! waf" harmonized again ?-A. I can only recall from memory, this wa~ 
long ago but my imprc:c:,ion i" that I got the hi.:;t.ory of the threP loans in detail 
from the Board and it looked to me iiLe a rorrcrt hi,:t,ory of the loans awl I 
,ti!l think it was a f om,rt hi:;tory that I <J:nt from thP Board; and in addition 
I was of the opinion tJ-.at the rl'al quef-ti0n wa~ one of ,;:erurit.y. \Vere thr 
timhrr limit,- of f'Ueh a value that no lo..;,, or only a ,mall lo"S would or,·ur? 
Wa..; tl,l' Prudcntial transaction one in whi<-h a ron,;iderahle lus;:; would orrnr 
or nut" \Ya,-;: the P<'llatt loan a tran~artion on ,vhich a heavy lo~s would 
orrur? It fif'emed to me it wa,; a question of the value of -;eeuritieR rather than 
a hnok-krl'ping matter. I ~till think that. 

Q. No audit that merely gave a statemi>nt from the ledger would be of 
any ndui>?-A. I would not ,:ay that, because it showed the f;tate of the account 
and what had been done. , 

Q. It would not go into the question of the st>rurity for the loans?-A. You 
mean the timber limit..c;;? 

Q. Yr~ ?-A. I would not giw two rentc: for the opinion of any audi{or 
in Canada a<- to the value of the timber limit.:o;. 

Q. You did not ,·ornmuniratc w:th ~Ir. Laf''.1 at a'.l b(•fore he communirated 
\\ "th you on behalf of tlw b«nk?-A. I do not think so. 

Q. I think Exhibit No. 70, pagt> 160, i..; the fir~t document "-A. I hardly 
think -o, I have a n•r11llcrtion in my minrl th:1t I said to somebody that I wn-.: 
venv 1Jwl that ::\Ir. La~h w:.-., connr•dP,fl with the ";tuatiun because he rould 
rl'p -rt to me. . . 

< 1. A,.., far a:-: the do< uml·nts fi!r,-1 arc ronrrrnrd the first rommumrdwn 
betw~t·n you and ~Ir. La:-h i~ the letter of February 14th, 1916.-A. If you 
-·1y \,(1 

·' 

0

ti: A~ far a" I h:we been able to find.-A. Then that is probably rorrrrt. 

,. 

,, 
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Q. You knew he was counsel for t.he bank?-A. At that time no, he w:.i:i 
not counf'el for the bank, that is another little mi,-representation that has been 
madr. 

Q. Well he wrote to you on behalf of the bank?-A. Yes, he did, but heri> 
i~ what I had in mind and what I had in mind when this matter first came up 
and I gave an interview about it, will you look at Exhibit No. 83 as to the 
appoirrtment of Mr. Lash. · 

Q. I do not want to take up too much time hut I see that in 1915 the firm 
of Blakr, La~h, Anglin & Cast'els were :wting for the bank.-A. Apparently so. 

Q. Although they had had no regular appointment as general solicitors, 
and in the latter part of 1915 a bill of about $2,000 was paid them which is in 
the rccord.-A. Y P'l, but what I had in mind when I gave that interview was 
that I had hem a,lvi;;:ed by 1'.Ir. La,-h and in that memorandum from the Board 
that Mr. La,-h had been appointed General Ooum:el for the bank and his firm 

.. made ,:olicitors. 
Q. But they had been ading for the bank before that?-A. I think m 

"-Orne ,-pecial matters, ye.o. 
Q. I think you 1-aid yrsterday that Mr. Lash was acting for the bank, hr 

wa<-: not acting for you?-A. rndoubtedly not at all. 
Q. And he was not paid by you?-A. Not at all. 
Q. Now we have this letter of February 14th, 1916. He says: 

"Quite rpcently the Home Bank has been con,:;ulting myself and 
Mr. Anglin about some of the complicated account,-, etc., and in this 
way I began to grt an inkling into the situation. On Saturday last 
General M:i-.on and Mr. Barnard, one of the Directors, had a long talk 
witl1 me. They showed me the h-tter,- ,vhich you lwd written to General 
1L,,-,m asking for information with re,:pect to three important accounts." 

That would seem clearly to be the commencement of his eonnection?-A. 
Well cxcept that I think a little earlier than that,--you must remember I am 
labouring under the di,-:idvantage of spettking from memory, but it is in my 
mind that he and Mr. Haney were down-

Q. But that comes,later.-A. Does it? Then you are right. 
Q. But Mef'<:rs.. Barnard and Haney had an interview with you before 

that?-A. Yes. 
Q. He says: 

"Mr. Barnard explained what had taken place at the interview 
which he and Mr. Haney had with you, and they explained also what 
had taken place at the sub,-equent Board meetings at which the Winniprg 
Director" were pre"'ent. Tlw special re:1c:on for their talk with me on 
Saturday was to ask me to take down to you some long stat.ement1-
which had bePn prepared rcspel'ting the thrrc arrounts referred to. Some 
little time ago I forme<l the opinion that until a full investigation into 
the values of the bank's a~sets and ;nto their liquid and tied up position 
was made nobody could form an intclligrnt opinion as to the courH• 
which the Bank should purrne with referrnce to the big accounts referred 
to or w:th reference to the more important matter of its going on in 
bu9ine,:,-." 

A. Yes. 
"I have no opm10n upon the latter question br~ause no opinion 

cnn be formrcl without t1,e information refcrrPd to. I became satisfier! 
some time ago that t:1e General management was wofully defective." 

A. Yes. 
"But of course I could not expre'3s any opinion upon this _to the 

Grneral Manager him,:elf who came to consult mr. I learned privately 
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from Mr. Fi,-her when he wat:i here t:J.at the "Winnipeg Directors were unable to obtain from the management sufficient information to enable them to judge as to the accounts refrrred to or as to the general position of the bank and that they had appealed to you to call for special returnc: about the three account:-. I expres:'ed to l\fr. Fi::oher my opinion about the management, and told him that unlc"S new management was intro­duced the po:-ition of the bank "oulrl, I thought, brcome more• col!l­plirntcr:l and might become hopcles~. I was glad to learn that the General Manager had offered his re,:ignation and that a committee of the Board had been appointr d t0 ,:eek for a new Gmernl Manager. I wa:- al:-o glad to learn that at the Beard meetings when the Winniprg DirectorR were hrre, and after thr natural acrimonious discu:;;sion wl1ich took place, harmony wa-, re~tored and- the Board became unanimom with m-peet to the proper tn·atment of the bank's affairs. This _I think wa,; lnrgPlv due to the fact that 11r. Haney, one of the new Drrector::-. convinced the Winnipeg DirPrtor~ that hr \\ a-- in accord with them in;..te:.irl of being, as they hud fearPcl, in accord with t 11e management." 
(Which afterward Frrm~ to have turnPd out to be different.) 

''Thl' other Dirr< tor'-' fol'.uwrd ;.\Ir. Hanev's lf'ad and all arr a unit with re,-l)f'et to ( 1) introducing JH'W and rffil'il';tt managernrnt; {21 getting to the bottom of all important acrnunt1J and transactions of the bank." 
A littlr furtl1tr down he Sa}:<-

"Pntil we know whether t)w Bank rail rontinuc and t;ikr up m•w bu~inc~" the po;:.ition \'annot be advan<'t!d mucll with rc,-peC't to this partieular account. 
I have he-<·n a:-kecl by the C'ommittpr to lt,e;p ti.cm to find a m·w Grmff:tl :Managn and I am doing w:,at. I can in that direction. From what I know of the three ac·rl•unt-, referrPd to, thr fullr,t ;:;tatement, l'('f-peeting them wliieh could be f-'l'Ilt to you would nut advance the situation ~:ery far in your mind. You would have to go clrrpn and irn1uire into t11e who'.e po,.,ition." ' 

You quitP ugrel'e with that·~-A. Wc·ll he ~ht;d that. 
"They ~mt ml' the :-:tatrment.3 rrc::prrting the,-e account<, but I haYe told them that if you were a,,;urrd hv the Winnipeg DirPdors who a::;ked you to art that they were gc-tting all the in:ormation you :1-<kcd for und a great d-ral more, and that they wou'.d like you to affo.rd the opportunity of eompleting the inve:-tigation, and that the wliole Board was now in accord, and that new mana1-wment wa:- going to be introducc·d at the <·arlie"t po:-,ible moment, I felt :-afr,fit:rl that you would prder not to have the ~tatemcnt;; ,(•nt t.o you in the mrantiml'. ThPy would oniy embarra--s you because you eould form no opinion a:- t0 your (;uty without further inw--tig..1tion and that you would have to dPc·ic!e ·what ,nrt of furthtr inw..;tigat-ion i:'houlcl tal(c pince. There i,- no doubt in mv mind that if WP grt a ,Il\'W and cffo·itnt man to look into the whole :-ituatiun he will l>t' able tu do it thoruuKhly without t11e re-ult whid1 would neee:-,arily follow if the inw~tigation wpre orderc·d by you. I mean by thi:,; that the mattc•r would not bP<·· ,me a public romment. I have tLc·reforc taken the n,pon~ibility of n-tainin~ tl'.e stat-emen7-: until I get an intimation from you as to whether you are satisfied to ll ave the pu,-.ition a-, it is for the pre-:cnt if the \Yinniprg Dirrctors request you to do :-o or whether you ~till want the :-takment;:. If the former, I :,;ha:] ,·ontinue my effort::; to lc-rrnre a new ~Tanager, and, rn far as I ran do :-o, I shall sre that the posit10n oi the Rrnk is not made ,rnr,p; if tlie latter, thPn I will send you 

• 
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the statements. Mr. Haney wrote the Winnip-€'g Directors last Thursday 
advising them to tell you that the Board was now unanimous and that 
they would like you to suspencl. action on their requc~t. I think you will 
probably hear from them in a day or so. The Board serms inclined to rely 
very much upon my advice and I am in such relations with them that I 
ran volunteer advice and if you would like me to advi;:f any partieular 
course I shall be glad to be so informed. I can give you an asrnranoo of 
my personal belief that tl;ie present management is well in hand under Mr. 
Haney's personal diredion. The Gcnrral Manager is not now in charge 
or giving any direction~." · 

Now, in your rrply to that, Exhibit 71, you ::;ay :-
" The position is that I have been made aware by the 'Winnipeg 

Directors of a certain rnndition whirl1 i,- mo,-t disturbing. It docs not 
appear to me that I would be justified in ,;laying enquiry because the 
Winniprg Director;; may ask me to suspend al·tion." 

A. Yes, that is right. 
Q. You were st:ll of the same opinion ?--A. I was of that opinion at that 

time. 
Q. You ,till think that was the right position to tah.e 9-A. Well, that 

waf my frame of mind at that time. ' 
Q. I do not ,really suppose, .3ir Thomas, that there is anybody sorrier than 

you that a full invrstigation was not made?-A. Will you ju::it allow me tc 
answer that previous question, bee:rn::;e you have a habit of breaking off my 
answers in the middle. '\\'ill you plea~c read that question before that, Mr. 
Reporter? · 

(The reporter ,reads):-
" You still think tha\ was the right po,,ition to take?" 

Mr. McLA"GGHLIN: Well, that wa-, your judgment at that time?-A. Thal 
was my judgmrnt at that t:me, that I should call in the Bankers' As::;ol'iation 
and I stated to you that subsequently, for the rea::oons that I gan yc~terday 
I allowed the bank to continue with the reorganized Board. 

Q. Well, now, a,;, I said a while ago, I am not que.,tioning your good faitr 
in the matter, but tlie unfortunate trouble in thi, whole matter i:S that the 
bank was allowed to continue. That is what ha~ turned out to b2 unfortunat.r. 
I do not mean to ,-;av that vou knew the circumstance;; at the time.-A. Will 
you allow me to giv~ };ou in illm:tration? A man i,; in~pecting a hou::;e that 
he is going to buy; the found:i.tion::i and the ~uper,:!rudun•-, appear to him 
to be substantial, but there are rnmr defrrt:-- in thr home and he buys it. 
Aftnwards he dis rovers that the hou"e is on a quicksand and it gi,:es way. 
Now, then, the quc;;tion is, he knew nothing t~bout the quid,~ancl. There is 
a lot of fraud and drrcit in c-onneetion with this. I had before me rcrtain 
things only, and I s,vore ye::;terday that I had no other thing,, before me, and 
had no reason to su-pert-

Q. I am only trying to make it clear, Sir Thomas, and I think you feel 
that we are trying to impose some per~onal fault on you, we are just trying to 
get at the fach.-A. You arc act;ng fur your rlient>', quite properly. 

Q. I am acting for 60,000 people.-A. I know your po"ition quite well. 
Q. And while I am making no attack:, on anybody, and espeeially not on 

you, still I am acting, as I say, for 60,000 people who have suffered very 
greatly. :0.fany of them have lost their lives and some more will, as a result 
of this.-A. Yes, but you do not de'-'ire to place the blame for the :;ituation 
upon me, a situation in which I acted with the utmoRt good faith. 

Q. I saw one of our depositorn carried out of Massey Hall, it has been 
an awful tragedy. I quite agree with you in your illuFtration a":l to the hou~e. 
You bay you understand there were defects in it?-A. Yes, the loans . 

• 
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Q. You 11ili not uncler"bnd the true fart, that it was full of quicband ?­
A. Quiek:,:md undrrnr:lth, and sirn·t· that it has tumbled into the quil'b:md, 
quicksand not disclo:::ed. 

Q. ::\ot di-,clo-cd to you?-A. No, certainly not. 
Q. It might have been rli~rlo~c,l if an indt,pcndent audit had been made?­

A. It rnip.ht or might not. One of tr.r br,:t firms of auditors in Canada were 
rmployed in connection with the 1\Icrrbmt;:; Bank. 

Q. We will take tlti~ Exhibit 72. He ,;ays :-
" Mr. Fi-.hn's e:tat!:'mcnt in thi;; lttter, that his dicnts, having pre­

;..entrd their views very fu; 1y aPd Yt'ry frank :y to you and to myt'lclf 
as cllief counsel of the bank, ',,re t·ntirely ~r.til-firrl tu lrave the mattrr 
in his hands and yuurs to drrirlr what artion will be taken,' ;;eems to 
tlirow a good deal of responsibility upon me." 

A. Right. 
Q. And, lil~c\\i:.:e, it wa..;; throwing a good dral of re::pon"ibility upon you?­

A. Undoubtrclly. 
Q. Then it continues:-

" In my intet·vil'\V wit11 you in Ottawa on the 22nd, I expn,,;r•,l 
my per,onal opinion a,: to the general po,:ition, and I said that my main 
objrct was, to :a:o manage mattrrs fout ii the bank had to liquidate, t!H' 
liquidation migL1 be "it,h open d<,ur:.:. Thi;, r·un only be accompE:-hed 
with the a~;,istanrc of other banks. 

"Per-;onally, I have irin·n up 11npc nf being able to -cc,ure a rom­
petrnt pPr:-un who could undertake the grncral managrmrnt---" 

A. Tirnt is what he said at that time. 
Q. Then 1 :mt great diffirnlty nf the genrral management :;:ccmed to be 

insolublP at t!1e timr?-A. It i:- a very diffo:ult quc~tiun at any time, with 
any institution, to grt a competent general manager. 

Q. And, after all, the eompdmt ~rneral m:mager is the first thing in 
ronnertion with any institution? 

Q. The human clement sine quu non for tbe succ1~ss of anything?-A. Yes, 
indeed. 

Q. You can get along without capit:11, and you can get along without a lot 
of things but you nunnot gtt along without a reasonable amount of integrity, 
industry and ability, in financial institutions, or, as a mattrr of fact, any kind 
of institution, i:i not that right ?-A. I think it is sub"tantially correct .. 

Q. He i"ays: 
"I have always thought that the investigation "hould Le by an out­

side competent per:-nn who would he quite free from any interference 
by the pre,:ent managrment or Board." 

A. Just rall my attention will you, to the page. 
Q. Wl'll, I am reading from Exhibit No. 72. 
The SECRETARY: Page 163, ~ir. 
WIT~Ess: What paragraph? I have it here. He said: 

"Per~nnally, I have giYen up l:.ope of being a1J:e to ;:crure a rnm­
petcnt perrnn who rould undrrtake t!1e genrr:il manag<·ment, without 
first fully invr~tigating tlte po·;ition. I have always thought that the 
inwstigation ~hould bP- by an outc:ide competent per:::on who would be 
quite free fror':n any intcrfrrcnre by the prc~ent managemfmt or Board." 

Ye-, that i,- right. 
Mr. McLArGHLIN: So that was; '\Ir. L::i~!t's opinion at that time?-A. He 

stated :30. 

~Q. And it serms to haw been a sound opinion?-A. Well, I would not 
di,:,:ent from that. 

.. 
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\ 
Q. If he changr,l it afterwards it did not affet·t the soundness of this 

opinion?-A. I do not know about that. Men change their minds frequently. 

If they change it honestly in the light of new circums.ance~, why, the second 

opinion may be more valuable than the first. 
Q. Down furth-er he mys: 

"I can 1:,ce grave danp;er, not only of loss to the Home Bank but of 

complil'ations and lo,:::st•,; in other dirrrtions, ·which would be very un­

dtsirable at the prr:"ent time." 

Now, I want to read a letter that you had not brfore you, but which will 

show you :Mr. La;;h's opinion at that time. This is Exhibit 132. It was put 

in ye:otcrday. 
The SECRETARY: Page 291, -,ir the first page. 
A. This is not a letter to me. 
Mr. LEio:: No, it is to Mr. Fisher. 
l\Ir. McLA"L"GHLIN: It is just giving you some idea of what Mr. Lash's 

...-rnl opinion wa~.-A. I never saw this letter. 

( 

Q. He says: 
"My dear Fisher,-! received your letter o:· the 

just as I was leaving last wrek for a week's ab.0 enee on busines-,. 
"I saw Sir Thomas White while I was in Ottawa on Tuesday lai::t, 

the 22nd, and I explained the position up to that time. Among other 
thin[rR, I told him that wr were rndeavouring to perfect certain securities 

which we wrre taking from Sir Henry Pellatt, ar d that it was very im­
portant that nothing should occur to prevent thi, being completed. He 

undrrstood and <:aid cl1e would endravour to avoi i precipitating matters, 
as far as he could. 

"On my return yesterday, I received your lett.er of the 21st enclosing 
copy of another letter which you wrot.e to Sir Thomas on that day. I 
also received yours of the 23rd telling me of y0"1r conference with Mr. 
Haney, along with Messrs. Crerar and Kennedy. 

"I also rPceived a letter from Sir Thomae;, stat.ng that 'he had received 
your letter of the 21st and saying 'It would appear to me that I would 

only be just.ified in allowing a reasonable time for the bank to perfect 
its security and improve its position under the accounts about which 

I made inquiry.' 
"I am writing Sir Thomas to-day, sending him a copy of your letter 

to me of the 23rd, and telling him that I hope that Pellatt's, securities 
will be 1•ompleted this week, and that sb ,-non a, Mr. Haney rrturns, I 

will ask to have a meeting of the Board called, in order that I may 
explain the whole position." 

Then it. gofs on, a little further down: 
"The more I consider the Bank's position, ewn assuming that every 

account will ultimately be collected in full, thr more doubtful I feel 

as to the po:-"ibility of its continuing in bu;;:inesfl. The amount iockerl 
up inrlrfinit.rly in four large accounts, is probably three times the paid-up 
capital, and more than half the total deposits; and if anything should 

take place which would eame a comparatiwly small percentage of the 
qepo;;:itors to ask for their money, I do not sre how the Bank could, 
without a~~i:,t<tnce from out-side, continue with open doors. 

"I told Rir Thomae, that my main object, ~ince I learned in out­
line what the Bank's po:=:ition ,vaR, has been to bring about a position, 
whiel1, if the worst happened, would result in liquidation with oprn doors. 
This can ,only be brought about by the assistance of other banks, and 

I want definite instructions from the Board a,, tc, how far I may go in 
D 
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this dirrction in con:mltation with Sir Thomas White, for he is now an 
e'-'-ential clement in the situation, which cannot be disregarded. He told 
me, and I could not dispute the correctnei;;s of his position, that, after 
you, on behalf of the Winnipeg Directors, had submittrd to him informa­
tion, which, to my the very least, wa,- ...-cry di,-,turbing, the responsibility 
"as thrown upon him, whit·h he could not avoid, and which would not 
be discharged be1·au,.;e those who had im·itcd his intervention might 
desire him to withhold furtlicr attion. The i;;tatrment.:3 relating to the 
threP ac1•ounts about which he a,-ked for information, were ~ent to him on 
the 22nd or 23rd." 

A. Well, as I stated to you, Mr. McLaughlin, I never i;;aw that letter. 
Q. I know that, Sir Thoma,;. But wlu,t would your opinion now be about 

a bt:nk that had three time:- its capital locked up in frozen aR,-ets, and more 
than half the total dcposits?-A. "\Vell, Mr. McLaughlin, the position would 
not be a good one, but, nevertheles.;, there is alw:.iy,., a po:-'-1bility of working 
out ae(·otmt". There is no doubt that my ,-tate of mind at that time was that 
the position w:.;; not a good one, a1~d that, I had intendP<l at th:· t time to eall 
in trr Canadian Bankpr:,:' At,-01 iation. 

Q. Well, you do not think that Mr. Lash ovcrstatrd the matter in that 
letter 0f hi, ?-A. "\Yrll, he never made the statemrnt to me-

Q. I know he did not.-A. Ju,.;t a moment, plc.t:-e. Will you ask me what 
particular paragraph you desire me to exprr"s an opinion on. 

Q. That ~tatcment a-; to the bank continuing in bu:-:im:,-~?-A. Xo, I do not 
agree with that on the ,-ituation plaeetl before me, if he had bdore him the 
,-tt.t1·m1:nt that I had, whieh wat- limikd to the tl1re,~ arl'ount", the Frm,t aerount, 
the Prudential, and the other which yuu have mCjtioned, the Pellatt. While 
the i;;ituation would be a dangerous one if there are run,; on the bank, I would 
not agree with him that the bank could not continue without a,;::i,-tance from 
oubide wit,h open doors. 

Q. With three time, it;:; capital and !talf it, deposits lof'krd up in frozen 
a,;:-:l't-;, and earning no inkre--t ?-A. "\Yell, it all depends on how thr:v were 
realized. As I ~aid yesterday, Pellatt wa:c: a man in good credit jn the City. 
Supposing they had got the Pellatt acrount redured by half, and ,;uppo;:;ing 
they had sold the timber limits in the Wl·-t-

Q. Suppose the publir knew it ?-A. Yes, ,mppo,-,ing the publir knew it, 
but that would precipitate runs on the bank. 

Q. There ;yould be a run on the bank?-A. If they knew it. 
Q. If the public knew the true fot·t,?-A. You me.m the facts that have 

come out on the whole transaction? 
Q. The fact~ that e;1me out in this letter of :\,fr. Lash's to you ?-A. 1 

would not do t.hat unle,., it became ab-nlutely neeessary. 
Q. If they knew tlw fa(,t,- stated in Mr. L'.1--h's letter?-A. If tlwy had 

Mr. La,-,h's l!·ttn before them? 
Q. Ye:,;.-A. I thinl~ if Mr. La"h's lettPr h,td been made publie it would 

have rttu,ed a run on the bank, l'lrtainly, but I ~ay that if tho::-e unliquid 
aeeounts could have b(•en liquidated sub,;tunt;ally, or in "·hole, I would not 
agree with :Mr. La-;h as to whethn tlwv should ermtinue in busine::;s or not. 

Q. If they had the fart-; before them U'l to tho,-e large account,, the Barnard, 
the Prudmtial, the Pellatt, and the Fro,-t, loc·king up :-omething like six or 
::;even million dollari;;?-A. Oh, I think if it were presented in clf'tail to a publir 
who could not under~tand a rompliratcd ,-it11.1tion Y(sry well it ,vould probably 
eau•e a run upon the bank and bring the bank down. It wa-, a bad situation, 
there i,; no doubt about t.liat, but I do not agree with him quoting that, unless 
he had "Omethinl!; that I had not, but in the evidenre before me, a,: I say, I do 
not agree with him that it ww, impo~,:ible for- the bank to continue in busine~~, 
because it had a fine clientele, and with good management, on the farts prr--u1t-
ed to me as they were, and as I under:1tood them- , 
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Q. But if the public knew the facts, no doubt, these things would have 
seriously I affected the bank?-A. Oh, I think it would, if the public had these 
facts spread out before thrm and it wa., suggested that these accounts could 
not be liquidated, but I know of no reason why the Pellatt account could not 
be liquidated, or even the timber account, in view of what they said. 

Q. Then on page 165, you say, in a letter to Mr. Lash: 
"Please let me know when you expect Mr. Haney to return. It 

might be advisable to await his report upon the security held for the 
Frost account. In the meantime I feel free to lay the facts before the 
Bankers' Association before his return-" 

A. iYes. 
Q. Then Exhibit 79, page 169. That letter informed you that Mr. Haney 

had been appoinkd Vice-Pre:,,ident?-A. Yes. 
Q. No new manager had been appointed. It goes on to say: 

"Mr. Machaffie (I think that is the spelling) the Manager of the Win­
nipeg Branch in wJ10m Mr. Haney and Mr. Crerar have great confid~ce, 
will come to Toronto at once (he has been wired for) to assist Mr. Haney 
in investigating the general po::iition and Mr. Haney will employ such 
outside assistance as may be required. 

"Mr. Machaffie is an old Banl< Manager and was trained in the 
Merchant::; Bk. and B.B.N.A. He has been with the Home Bank abcnit 
seven years I think and most of the time in "Winnipeg." · 

Then the fifth paragraph of the lettet 
''The Board desire an opportunity of going on with the business­

::otrengthening other accounts and straightening out tangles and it was 
with that in view that we came here to-day in order to explain the whole 
po.,;ition to you and to ask you to gife them this opportunity, by refrain­
ing for a "[hile longer-" and so forth. 

This is the first time Mr. Machaffie appears to have been mentioned?-A. 
I think so. 

Q. And you were informed that 11r. Machaffie, an experienced banker, 
would be associated with Mr. Haney in making an invest,igation ?-A. That is 
ri~~ • 

Q. You never received any report from Mr. Machaffie on any investigation 
made by him?-A. Xo, I did not. I never received any report from Mr. Machaf;­
fie. If he wrote me I did not get it, that is, ag to that. 

Q. Xow, there is Exhibit 83, page 172. This i~ a letter from Mr. Lash 
to yoursrlf in which he recites what took place at an interview?-A. Yes. 

Q. In paragraph 3 he says: 
" The Board was convinced that important change:- in the manage­

ment of the Bank were required, not only for the purpose of ascertaining 
its actual prn,ition by an in-,pcction ronducted under the direct authority 
of the Board, but also for improving the Bank's position with respect 
to the existing accounts-" 

Then it goes on, clause (c) to Ray:-
, " Mr. Machaffie, Manager of the Winnipeg Branch, has been brought 

to Toronto to act as Mr. Haney's chief astiititant. Mr. Machaffie is 
regarcted as one of, the ablest officers in the employment of the Bank. 
He is a trained banker, and before coming to the Home Bank, he was 
in the service of the Merchant~ Bank and the Bank of British North 
America. He is in no way responsible for the general management in 
the past, and he has managed the busineils in Winnipeg satisfactorily. 
He has been with the Home Bank six or seven years." 
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Then clause (d) says:-
" l\Iy firm ha-, 'been appuintcd the general soliritors of the Bank, 

and I have agreed to act a:- gPneral < uun~el, and give per:::onal uttt-ntion 
to the more important .questions which are now on hand, and whirh 
muy ari~e in the cour:-ie of the rl'org:.mization." 

A. Ye~. 
Ifo; LounsHIP: 'l;'hat was in 1916. 
W1T""E:;;s: I would like to draw your lord;:;hip's attention sperially to tlrnt 

Exhibit. I think I put it in ye~terday. It is a Yery imporbnt letter. 
Mr. McLA-cGHLIN: Kov,·, this is what they promi-,fd you, par:1grapJ1 8:­

" With a view to ascertaining the actual position of thr. bank, a 
thorough investigation will be made, under the directions of Mr. Haney 
and Mr. Machaffie." 

A. Yes, you are reading. 
Q. Well, did tl:£,y evrr i:-rnd you a report of that thorough inve-;tigation?­

A. No. I do nut undcri-tand from that that they were to :-end it to me. 
Q. This is on the 21st of March, they promii;;e a thorough investigation 

under the direction of l\lr. Haney and Mr. Machaffie, and, as far as you are 
concerned, you do not know whether it was ever made or not?-A. It was 
apparently an internal invc'ltiguticm. 

Q. It wa,- ncvn ~0nt to you any"·:.q?-A. It was never ~cnt to me, no. 
Q. Then Exhibit 84, in whirl, you rr;;prve the right to have an indtpendent 

investigation at any time, and which you end up by saying:-
" I ,;hould like to have from you an as:-urance that interest upon tlw 

Frost acrount will not be taken into profit-, distributed to shareholders 
in the wuy of dividend::;. Itiwould appear to me al:::o that until the New 
Orleans situation i-, rlr:1n,d u'p it would be advisable to pursue a similar 
course rc~pccting that account." 

A. Right. 
Q. You asked for that assurance?-A. Yt'l. 
Q. And the nrxt Exhibit, No. 85, you got it?-A. Yr;:, sir. 
Q. l\lr. Lash says:-

" I think I rnn give you the a::;.:;urance tl1at intcrc-;t upon the Frost 
arcount will not be takPn into profits 9-i:;tributed to shareholdt>rs in 
the way of dividend~, and that until the Xew Orleans situutiun i,., 
cleared up. a ,-imilar cour~ \ will be pur~ued." 

A. Ye,;. 
Q. Did you ever take any step-; to find out whether th.1t a,:,:;urancc w:1~ 

complied wit.h or nui ?-A. Not until after, I think, I •got Mr. Muehaffic'., 
letter. 

Q. Not until 1918?-A. I tl1ink not. 
1 

Q. And tnen you found that it had not been compliul with ?-A. It had 
been complied ·with from the end of the fi-,cal year 1916-1917, according tu 
the statement made by the Board. 

Q. But this undertaking w;1-, given to you on 1Iarch 23rd, 1916?-A. Ye,;. 
Q. And yet tho-l' people gave you that undertaking on May 31:,;t, of the 

same year?-A. Without notice to me. 
Q. Ignored it cntirely?-A. They did. 
Q. That, I -,hould think, would c:hake your confidence in them, although 

you did not know it until 1918?-A. Well I would nut tiay that it would shake 
my confidence in Mr. Lash. I um quite rnre that Mr. Lash gave me that 
assurance in abE>olute good faith. 
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Q. You did not discover that, you say, until 1918, until Mr. Machaffie wrote 
you the letter?-A. Well, that is my recollection. 

H1s LORDSHIP: Perhaps we had better take recess here. \ 

(Adjourned at 1 p.m. until 3 p.m. on Friday, 25th April, 1924.) 
• 

AFTERNOON SESSION 

OTTAWA, ONT., Friday 25th April, 1924. 

Proceedings N'rnmed at 3 p.m. 

~fr. McLA1.GIILIN: ( continuing his cros:,:-examinatiun of Sir Thomas 
White): 

· Q. Sir Thomas, after the end of the correspondence which you have filed, 
for the year11916, there is nothing further until the letter you r<;ceived from Mr. 
Machaffie?-A. I think there is the Haney letter a little later. 

Q. That is in the same year?-A. In the same year, yes; but you did not 
tourh on it this morning. 

Q. That is in and I did not think it nece'3sary to go over it.--A. Then I did 
not understand your question. I thought you were referring to the point where 
you left off this morning. 

Q. It was about June 1916.-A. Yes. 
Q. Then from June 1916 until Augu;.t there i;. nothing?-A. Yes I, think 

that is right. Nothing until the Machaffie letter. That is in Au!;tist 1918. 
Q. Two years and two months.-A. Y cs I think so. 
Q. And during thai. period you made no inquiry a-,, to the report that had 

been promi-;rd you by Mr. Haney and Mr. Machaffie?-A. I don't think they 
had promised me a report. 

Q. That appears in Mr. La!:h's iR:tNview?-A. I don't think so. 
Q. It speak for it.,elf?-A. Yes. They were to make an internal investiga­

tion. 
Q. You would rrreive no report of that invcst:gation.-A. I receive :l no 

report of it, no. 
Q. And you made no inquiry a~ to whetlwr their undrrtaking ac;; to divi,!tnds 

was being carried out?-A. Xo I did not, I aceepted Mr. Haney's as.mrance. 
Q. Then you received Mr. l\fachaffie's letter whirh is Exhibit 88 ?-A. Yes. 
Q. It appPars at page 178. He uys among otlwr things in that letter: 

"The total amount ·written up in the Frost arcount over the purchase 
pric-e of the timber, if arldrd to the amount c,f capital '-tock carried by 
the bank, would acrount for the entire rapital." 

That stuterf).ent appear.; to be true I suppo:,e?-A. I have not the figures be:ore 
me, but ~ have no doubt it_ is true. , \ 

Q. :Now as a m,ult of ~Ir. Machaffie's letter of August 1918, you asked the 
managPment of the bank for a report?-A. YPs. 

Q. And you received that report, Exhibit 96?-A. Yes. 
Q. And by that report they admittPd the Fro1ot intcre::-t had been taken into 

profits for the year 1916 and 1917?-A. I don't know whether it is expressely 
admitted. 

Q. They say they have taken in none since.-A. Y cs, then infon·ntially that 
would be hO, but that they had not taken it in since the end of the fi~rnl year 
1917. 
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Q. And you did not niake any complaint about tlieir not having fulfilled 
their undertaking with you ?-A. I did not expressly make any complaint. The 
letters in reply show what I did. I called for a special return. 

. Q. In your previous investigation,;. you had asked for no report as to the 
annual profits of the bank and as to how they had been made up ?.-A. In my 
previous what? • 

Q. In your previous corre:,;pondence you had asked for no report as to the 
profits or how they had been made up.-A. No. I think I confined my investiga­
tion to the reports I called for of the three large acrounte, a-, to the position of 
those accounh. . 

Q. You had no report a,: to the profits?-A. Not that I am aware of. 
Q. The evidence as to the profits for 1915 is given by Mr. Clark:-on at page 

270.-A. That was not before me. 
Q. It was not before you but I ju:-;t want to -.ee wh·at effect it would have 

had upon your mind if it had been befor,e you.-A. Oh well, I think that is 
hypothr-tical. 

Q. Y ec;. He says: 
'•In 1915, the profits were shown fo be how much ?-A. $163,900." and, 
"A. $42,526 taken as a profit earned in connection with the purchase 

of La Banque Internationale. 
"Q. vYas that ju-,tifiable?-A. Xo sir it was not earned. 
"Q. What else '!-A. $179,710 for the Fro::<t advances. 
"Q. Not earned either?-A. Kot as the facts turne1l out in the light 

of present facts. 
"Q. It was a profit that never came to the bank either tlwn or at :..ny 

time since?-A. The bank ha,- never received it. 
"Q. And never will, what else?-A. $31,167 on lo:rn.,; on the Kew 

Orleans -;ecuriti-cs. 
"What else?-A. $22,537 as intere::it on the Home City e~tate:-; 

advance:,;. 
"Q. How much does that amount to a!t-Op;ather that wm; taken in that 

year's profits, that was not earned ?-A. $276,!}40 is the amount of that 
interest. 

"Q. About $100,000 more than shown ?-A. $116,000 more than the 
profits." 

A. Mr. Clark:,;on is speaking in the light of subsequent event-;, that that has been 
shown. 

Q. Oh well, we will ju:;t stick to these facts.-A. I am sticking t-0 the::ie 
farts. 

Q. And whatever arp;ument you want to put in you will have an opportun­
ity for t lu,t.-A. I beg pardon; I a,k your lord:ihip to rule on the question of 
whether I am introducing argument, or not. He a"k<.: 11 me a hypothetical ques­
tion ttnd '-Ui!!?;f'f:tf' that Mr. Clarbon haf: made a report since, which I have 
iJlrver seen and which I am not subscribing to; I think I am entitled to call 
.,attention to the fact that that was not bdore me and that Mr. Clarkson might 
have come to quite a different opinion in 1916 with regard to a timber limit. 

Q. Thal is so,. but we are not trying you, flir Thomas.-A. I quite under­
stand that you are not trying me. If you were, I could wish that you had 
started to try me long ago instead of my being misrepresented through Canada. 
Nothing would have pleased me more than to have come here and got the facts 
out. I have been trying to get them out for months. 

Q. Well, Sir Thomas, if you are a sufferer, you are one of the lightest suf­
fr rrr;, in connection with the Home Bank failure.-A. I am not finding fault. 

Q. What I am asking you i,:, if you had. ~een this, if it would have affected 
your mind?-A. If I had known what? That in the light of subsequent events? 
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Q. No, that the interrsct written up in 1915 on frozen account<;, that was 
not rereived and has never bPen collerted and amounted to $116,000 more than 
the wlm1r of the allegrrl profit to the Bank?-A. You did not put that to me 
in that way. You say that Mr. Clarkson, in the light of sub~equent events 
thought t!rnt was not earned. Xow you u::1k me in rculity this question: In 
1916, or '17 or '18 if you had ~mown what we now know in tlie light of sub~e­
quent events, that that wa~ not earned, ·what would you have done. If you 
askrd Mr. Clarkson what was the situation in 1916, '17 and '18 and whether 
in hi,;;, opinion the interest had not been earned before the bank failed, he 
miglit have given you a very different reply. 

(~. We will go, to 1916. You wou'.d not con:;ider that good banking hu"i­
nc·,- to write up $116,000 more of intc·rr;:t that rould not be immediately 
c.il:rr•rd?-A. Ko, I did not con,:ider that it wa~, :.mrl I ':':ud rn. I asked 11:r. 
Hnnrv to see that :t was not done. 

(~. :Xow in 1916, a year that they have given you their po,-itive as-;uranrr 
that they would not write that interest into profits, we will sre what they did. 
At page 271: 

"Q. ~ow take the year ending 31st May, 1916, what do you find 
the earnings for that period to be?-A. $133,406. • 

Q. What unearned amounts were taken in to make that up?-A. 
About $210,000. Fro:-t, $170,676. Kew Orleans, $8,100 and $32,000 on 
other items." 

Don't you think it would have been wise in 1918 for 1you to have asked if 
they had kept their promise with you as to that interest?-A. They showed 
in 1918 that while they had taken it in up to the end of the fiscal year 1917, 
that ,ince that date they hurl not. 

Q. We know that Sir Thoma~, but you had told them not to take it in at 
all and t.hey had· as:::ured you they would not.-A. Will you allow me to fini~h 
my ,,n,-wer? I am trying to an~wer you Yery fairly. I say that in the unani­
mou-< report of the Board, which came to me, thry state that it had not been 
t.:.1kr•1 in ~inc·e the fi:::cal year 1917. It is perfectly clear that they did fake it 
in up to the end of the year 1917 nothwithstanding the a'-surance given me by 
Mr. Lash; but at the time I got the unanimou,:: report of the Board, according 
to that report, and as I underf.tand for ,:ome time afterwards, until after I left 
offire :1::. n1inister, they did not take it in. Now then the position was that they 
did make a breach of their as,:urance which they gave me up to the end of the 
fi,::ral vear 1917, but from tint date on, according to this report, they did not. 
That is tJ1e position. · 

Q. But they certainly cared so little for their as.,;urance that within two 
month:- of giving that assurance to you, they broke it?-A. Well they broke 
it for that year, there is no doubt about that. 

Q. You asked not only for an a -·mrance as to the Frost but also as to the 
New Orleans?-A. Until the situation ,-hould clrar up I asked with regard to 
the New Orlean~. 

/ Q. And they kept on adding the New Orleans every year?-A. Well, I 
have not got the information before me, but there is an explanation of that. 
They turned a certain amount of earnings back into maintenance of the prop­
erty. 

Q. So as a result of Mr. Marhaffie's statement you say you just asked the 
bank for a report?-A. A report. 

Q. And that report was sent you signed by Mr. Haney?-A. Mr. Haney, 
yes. 

Q. During the whole of this period. you never got any independent report 
of any kind?-A. No, I assumed that the bank was getting along all right. 

78093-3 
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Q. You had faith in and believed in the report sent you by Mr. Hnney?­
A. Yei-. 

Q. And if that report were true, the bank was improving its po,;it.ion all 
the time')-A. All the time, and not only improving its pm:ition, but notably 
improving its po,-ition. 

Q. But Mr. Clark,;on's evidence now is that they hnve not improved their 
po,ition but had gone back every year?-A. That appears there from Mr. 
Clarhon's report, but that was not in exi"tPnce at this time unfortunately. 

Q. That shows that the information furni<-hed you was fah,e.-A. False 
in fad,, if Mr. Clarkson is right. I a:::rnme he i~, but I am not speaking for 
Mr. Clarbon. 

Q. They sent a similar report to Sir Henry Dra~·ton that it \\a:- ,;till 
getting better?-A. I um not challenging his report, but I do not know whether 
:'.\lr. Clarki-on's report is accurate or not. I as,mmc it is, became 11e i" a goorl 
man. That is, that it is <'Orrcd. 

Q. From 1918 on thc·n, you took no further cognizame of the affair,- of 
the Home Bank?-A. I think I did. I a~ked Mr. La.ch for a special· return 
as to thol'e three account,,, to give me the figun•-:, and I think I wa,, influrn<·ed 
in that because thrv l1ad taken in this intrrrl:'t in one areount.1 In other 
words, that wa,: don~, it had been done, and I a:-kcd Mr. La--h for a special 
return in addition to this; I asked him for a special return under the K .. nk Ad. 

Q. Where is that, Sir Thoma,-;?--A. You will find it hrre. I a-kcd him for 
copie,, of ledger entries. 

Q. Was not that brfore that?-A. No, it wa;: not bPfore that. I will find 
it for you in a moment. , 

Q. It is Exhibit 96, wliirh appear'- at page 182. I do not intrnd to rPad it. 
-A. That is the report that you have been referring to. Arcording to mine, 
my 96 is the Board of Din·etor<'. LPt me rl'ad you Exhibit 97. I call f'pccial 
a+,tmtion to it becaw::e it is a very import.ant letter. I asked for:-

" Copie,: of thP bank's ledger entric:l :,bowing in detail all advan!'<'S 
made, intere-at added from time to time, any payment-a in n·durtion of 
prinripal, and full particular::; of ~ecurity now hrld." 

Thrn at the end of the lrttrr I ~ay :- I 

" In this connertion I require a statement ::;hawing how much of 
the <'apital and re,rrve is repre:::rntrd by intere,t whieh ha~ bem added 
from time to time to the primipal of the thm! arqounb in qur,tion and 
any other account where the principal loan ha,- exeeeded $250,000." 

And in another plaee I think I a~kecl for ledger entrie:5, berause I believe 
I got them. Po::-,;;ibly not, but at all event,, I asked for that report. 

Mr. LAFLEl:R: You will find ledger entries. 
Mr. McLA1.:GHLIN: They are filrd.-A. Yes, but I want to call attention ' 

to them right here, in answer to your question. 
Mr. LEE: You call for them there, "cqpics of ledgcr entriPs."-A. Ye~, thut 

is what I called for, but it was suggested th~t I had done nothing further. 
Mr. McLAuGHLI"'.'<: You reeeived the detailed ledger entries?-A. Ye,-, and 

il think that was an important thing to get. 
Q. But they did not add anything to the information already given?­

A. They gave me information at that time of the ,:tate of those arrounts. 
Then thrre is Mr. La':lh's reply to that. You ask me if there is anything 
further. You will find that on page 191, Exhibit 105. 

His LORDSHIP: That is within a fortnight after you got that reply?­
A. Yes sir, and enrlosing as I recollect a copy of ledger entries of all the three 
accounts. I thought if 1 got a copy of the ledger entries that would be a good 
check. 

.. 
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Mr. McLAUGHLIN: You did receive ledger statements of these senral 
accounts?-A. Yes. 

Q. They are here and that will dispose of that.-A. If you say so that is 
all right, but I want you to say so. 

Q. Now at page 324 in No. 5, you ::,ay at the top of the page:-

" Under no circumstances would I have allowed a bank to fail 
during the period in qm:,.,tion." 

Now I would ask you, if you found a bank in diffieultics, if it had been 
shown to you at that time that the Home Bank was in serious difficultie,,., 
what would you have done to prevent it-; failure?-A. If I had believed th.at 
the Home Bank at that time wa::, in danger of failing, closing its doors, was 
ipsolvent, I "hould have gone to the Canadian Bankers' Association and told 
them to take over that bank. Etiher to one bank or more bank,;. 

Q. And what i>< your opinion as to what they would have donc?-A. I 
think thev woulrl have lookrd into the situation and on the situation, or 
anything like the situation that was before me, they would have done it. I 
think I would have made them do it. 

Q. If the bank wa-; not too far gone?-A. Ye::o. I would have made them 
do it. When I say that, I had no legal power, but nevertheless I feel confident 
that I could have got them to do it, because it was in the mid':'t of the war 
and if I had beliend that that bank was in danger of ini-<olvency or about , 
to clo,e its doors, I would have said to the Canadian Banker~' Association; 
" You take over that bank." 

Q. If you had known then what you do now, you would have done that 
I suppo:'r?-A. Absolutely. 

Q. You say:-
" I had ,many difficult and dangerous financial -,ituation-; to lira! 

with during the war. At its outbreak, in view of· the panic which pre-
, vailed, the Governmrnt at my imtanee, placed itself behind the banks 

of Canada and gave public assurance that it \\ ould loan them ~uch 
sums as they might require to meet the conditions of the war, and 
would take all further ,teps nece;,:sary to safeguard the financial situation 
during its eontinuance. At a later period I found it neces::oary to make 
a statement in t'.1e Hou"c to allay unw•t caused by the agitation for 
the so-called cone<-ription of wealth. If it had appeared to me that the 
bank was not ab'le to meet its public obligations, I should have taken 
steps to have it taken over by some other bank or banks, or failing 
that, would have given it nece<:sary assistaAce under the Finance Act, 
1914. Such action would, in my view, have been ju::,tifiable in the publie 
intere-,t at that time." · 

That is on accm,mt of the war?-A. Yes. 
Q. During all that period of course, you were very busy with war work?­

A. Mr. McLaughlin, if you had had the load of work and responsibility that I 
had during that war, you would not be cro:,s-c-xamining me to-day. 

Q. I don't deny that Sir Thomas, and I don't want to minimize to any 
extent at all the very important and valuable work you did.-A. And I don't 
want to emphasize it. 

Q. The immem;ely valuable work you did during that time, you were 
, raising war loans?-A. I certainly was. 

Q. That was something quite new, raising large loans in this country?-A. 
Decidedly so. 

Q. YQu were a pioneer in that respect?-A. I was. 
Q. And I suppose I would not be going too far to say that I don't know 

how you had the time or the mind to give the attention that you did to this 
78093-3½ 
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Home Bank.-A. If you did I think it woul<l not be an owrtotatrment. I was 
acting Prime Mini:-tcr of Cana<la at thito parti<·ular time, and Minister of 
Finance. Floating loans; working about eightPrn hours a day; t·alled up 
fr<><1urntly at night wjth rrgard tu financial troub!r'l of various kind~. I don't 
wnnt to emphasize it, but you !tavP u-kPd me tbe qmAion and I am telling you. 

Q. And I :-uppo-,e I would nut lJc goinµ; to,> far to say that t11e great 
domin 1ting thought in your mind during all that period was the war work?­
A. I think it wa-; by far the 1 ~ominant inter£>:::t. I would not say it was thP 
sole intcre:si-., but. t1,e war, and the lr!!if'lation in the House of Commons, and 
my admini"itrative worl~ in the offie<' and my work out"iid<·, of enur:-c absorbed 
all my timr and all my thought. 

Q. In fact it filled ewry nook anrl cranny of your big 11rnd from the sub­
bm-rnH nt fo thP att.ic?--A. I a,--.ure you it did not Sl'lm anv too big :,t th'lt time 
for the joh I had. However, I am not rr,ting on that, J\Ir. McLaughlin. I claim 
I did my duty not only in c ,mne< tion ,, it11 the war but in all 0thl'r respect 0. 

I am am•11,Pd that I found t11e hne to clo half whit I did. in this. 
Q. I lik£> human bring,-, you 1know, better titan supermen.-A. Well I am 

a human bring and not a :-uperman. 
Q. And as human beingt< we do not expect everybody to be infallible in 

his judgment. I make so many mic;talcrc:; my:::rlf that I lme otlier'- who do it.-
• A. I never though I was infallible, but men in public life cannot afford t.o admit 

that. 
Q. But now that you are free from public life, as I f'aid Y<',,tnclay, "the 

truth will set us free."-A. I should have :,aid "nobody in politics." I mean 
that in politic,; one cannot afford to make admissions. I do not mean that in 
my evidencP at t!1e present time I have the sligl1test desire to state anything 
except the abf'olute fact-;. 

Q. It wnuld naturally have been a very disastrous thing from a publir 
and national point of Yirw, to allow a bank to fail at that time?-A. Very 
serious, very graYe. 

Q. It wa,- ,-nmething that could not be permitted I suppose ?-A. I told you 
that if I had thought that the bank was in dam?;cr of failing, I would have had 
it taken over. 

Q. That is. if you had known the true facts, you would have had it taken 
over?-A. Pndoubtedly. 

Q. That is my point. I would like to rompliment you, Sir Thomas, in 
dosing, by saying that I believe you had more faith than the historic grain of 
mu.:atard seed.-A. Well, Mr. McLaughlin, I may ;say that I do not lightly suspect 
men whom I have known and in whom in the past I have had confidence. I 
am a man who i_R rather free from suspirion. Prima facie I believe men are 
hone,t, if they tell me they are. 

Q. That is the natural failing of an honest man, but unfortunately in this 
country experience shows that we have to have a reasonable amount of suspicion. 
-A. Well, but, you have been Coun::,el ::,O long that you could not gPt oii with­
out it. I have not been Counsel. 

Q. And the trouble in this matter wac:; the great faith you had in the Hon­
ourable James :\,lason?-A. No, not in James Mason. 

Q. And in M. J. Haney?-A. James Mason was displaced. I said incident­
ally yeRterday that even so far as he wa,,; concerned, he was a neighbour of mine, 
living in Queen's Park, and he was a man of good standing in Toronto, but 
neverthelc,;.,, when this was brought to my attention. 

Q.1 He turned out to be a very unfortunate bank manager?-A. He did, 
and they displaced him. ' 

I 
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Q. Now from the time of this complaint down to the closing of the doors "f 
the bank, there was no real change of management ?-A. A change in the Board, 
and Mr. Haney President. 

Q. A c!rnngc in the Boarll but not in the manain ment.-A. Yes, Mr. Ham·y 
was the President. 

Q. But we ~pc•ak of the l\1anager.-A. I _considered the Presirlent of the 
bank as the el1icf executive. The GencrJl Manager is more the execut.in;, but 
the President of tl1e bank is his superior, although the General ~fanager i,; 
usually the important man. 

Q. The President may more or le~.; take an active _part or not?-A. Mr. 
Htiney I believe v, :,;.. taking an active part, and was earnef-t and sincerely de­
sirous of putting the bank in a better pos,ition. All the correspondence ::-hows 
that, and that l.e wa-; to gin· his time to it. 

Q. The corrcspondern r ::;hows that he was from time to time telling you it 
was in a better po,-,ition, when in faet it was not.-A. Well that may be, but 
nevertheless he wa-;; giving his time to the bank. • 

Q. That conl'ludes the questions I have to ask you, Sir Thomas.-A. I 
t'.iank you Mr. McLaughlin. I do not know that it is neGessary to re-examine; 
there i,: only one point on which I wish tD ;;:peak, a_nd I mentioned it yesterday. 

Mr. LEE: Before you go on, ::.\Ir. Lafleur lia:-- a few quc-;tions. 1 

Mr. LA,.-LET'"R: It i;;: quite immaterial when it is t!:tid. You ran say what 
you want now, :-,ir Thoma,:. 

Sir THOMAS WHITE: It is ju:,,t on one point. Mr. McLaughlin emphasizes 
::.\ir. La;-;h'::- ::-tate of mind when he wrotr that lctJter to ~Ir. Fistrnr, which I have 
not ;-;ePn, that the bank \nt::, unable• to go on. I wi:-11 to rder to what I brought 
to your lordship's attention yc,,terday ~ the letter in whirh Mr. Lash a little later 
says he completely chan~,~d his opinion. It is an Exhibit marked in there if 
someone will give the number of it. 

Mr. LAFLEl.'R: I will rderio it in a moment .. 

Sir THOMAS WHITE: That is the only point that I think I need meet the 
cross-examination upon. 

Mr. McLAl.GHLIN: The only trouble about that, Sir Thomas, is that Mr. 
La:-h wa::l the solicitor and Coun~Pl for the bank.-A. Is this argument or evi­
dence? 

Q. I am just telling you.- A. Well, what do you think it is, argument or 

evidence'? , 
Q. I think you have put in a good deal of argument.--A. A man has to 

wlll'n he is his own lawyn. 

Crass-rxamined by Mr. Lafleur: 

Q. Sir Thomas, t,:rnre were two periods at which represenbt:ons were made 
to you as to the conclition of the bank. The first one was in January 1916, 

comiisting of the letter of ~Ir. Fisher supported by the do('uments which he 
rnbmitted to you; And tl1e second occasion was in Augu;.t 1918 when you 
roccived Mr. Machaffic'o lett,~r?-A. Tho::Je were two orcasions on which I re­
ceived letters, but the l\1a('haffic letter dealt with, ,1s you will observe, the three 
al'rounts, and one other which had been paid off; evidently Mr. Maehaffie did 
not know that; whieh had been brougl:t to my attention by Mr. Fisher. In 
other words, everything that is in the Machaffie letter, so far as the three ac­
counts are eoncerned, was practically ,et out in the Fi::;her communiration. 

Q. But tho:sr were distinct periods.-A. Fndoubtedly. Two years i:-eparated 
them. ' 

Q. Two years intervenLd?-A. Yes. 
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Q. ·when you received Mr. Fi:5her's letter and the supporting documents, 
youi: first impm,sion was that there ought tu be an audit under sertion 56A 
of the Bank Act?-A. Undoubtedly. I called on the auditor. 

Q. Fir~t of all you :,aid you thought it wa;; a case for an a.udit under 
i,ertion 56A ?-A. Yes; and for a report from the Board under section 113. 

Q. Then you prdceeded to appoint an auditor?-A. I took the auditor who 
ha,l been ~eled-e<i by the 5hareholders, to make the report to me. 

Q. You a;,kcd him to art under the :-l'ction of the Bank Act?-A. Yes. 
Q. At page 78 you will find your letter to Mr. Jones, to the following 

effrct:-
'Tndcr the provisions of Section 56A of the Bank Act I now dire<·t 

and require you a-, auditor fo enquire into the accounts mentioned and 
report to me in all proper drtail re:--pert.ing them.'' 

A. Right. 
Q. So you intended to make him your auditor for the time being?-A. I 

intended to call on him under the Bank Act. If that m11kes him my auditor, well 
and good. 

Q. The Bank Aet makes him your auditor and make<, you liable to pay 
him.-A. I think that is right. 

Q. At that time why did you drcide to employ the b:rnk's auditor. Mr . 
. Joni'~ wa;,. the n,gular auditor of the bank?-A. Yes. 

Q. I want to know why you sekrtl'd him?-A. Because he was the obvious 
man to ;:p lt><"L 

Q. You thought so.-A. Of courf'c he wa;;, He repn,,-;rnted the shareholder,;, 
and I had the di-<(-rction under the Statute of calling on him, or on an ouL;ide 
auditor. 

Q. That was on the 24th of January. I find that in February, 1916, ju~t 
a month aft.Pr, you thought that the logi<'al way would be to ask the Banker;;' 
Association to name an auditor?-A. Yes. 

Q. How did you come to change your mind? In January you thought that 
the logical thing and the P,roper thing to du wal" to appoint the bank's own 
auditor?-A. Yes. 

Q. And I find that in February you my at page 88, in y,our letter to Mr. 
La~h of 24th February, 1916: 

"It would appear to me that the Bankers' A:-,-ociation could do thi;; 
very thoroughly and much more efficiently titan any auditor I could 
appoint or any official I could narpe for the purpo,:e." 

A. I think that i;: right. 
Q. What led you to change your view on that ?-A. Becau,-:e it became a 

question not of accounb, not of the particular state of one of those three 
acro1)nts, but the question of ~ecurity; and the Bankers' A,;-ociation could give 
me an idea as to security, and could go into the affairs of the bank, if they went 
in, very much better than any auditor in Canada. As I said this morning, I 
had no confidence in the opinion of an auditor with regard to the value of a 
timber limit, but I would have confidenee in the opinion of a banker. 

Q. Then why did you change your view sub:;,equently and not ask the 
Bankers' Assol'iation to appoint some compeh'nt per"on to make an audit,?-A. 
Beeau,-r as shown there it was drawn to my attention and I agreed after think­
ing it over that the effect would be to bring about a run on the bank. 

Q. That was in 1918?-A. What was? 
Q. That your attention was drawn to. that posi::ibility by Mr. Lash?-A. 

I beg your pardon, it wa~ drawn very much earlier than that, in 1916. You 
will find it in Mr. Lash's summing up of hi,-, interview with myself and Mr. 
Haney, Mr. Lash's private letter to me in which he says then). would be whisper­
ings and that if you put a man in there, notwith,;bnding all the care that might 
be takeri-

1 



HO.'JE BANK OF CANADA 363 

Q. I think you are confusing that, I think that was in 1918?-A. No, it 
is not in 1918. 

Q. He ('ertainly wrote to you to that effect in 1918.-A. He wrote me in 
his own handwriting, and in the interview between Mr. Haney and Mr. Lash 
and myself in 1916 that was stressed. 

Q. Then did Mr. La;;;h eonvince you that it was impossible to have an 
audit through the Bankers· Association withou.t the matter beeoming public? 
-A. He said so. 

Q. But did he convinee you?-A. That and my own judgment on the 
situation when I thought it over earefully. Remember a Minister is in a great 
dilemma in a case of that kind, he has to weigh .the com,equences very care­
fully of action one way or the other. 

Q. I think I know the letter to which you refer, it is the letter of Mr. Lash 
of the 4th of March, 1916.-A. Look at page 174, you will get it strong. 

Q. But I want to get the earliest date at which you took that view. Look 
at the bottom of page 166, he says: 

"If the Bankers' Association were asked to interfere, my experience 
telh, me that no matter what the plPdge of confidence may be, and no 
matter how faithfully it may be kept by those giving it, yet the situation 
would beeome public property in a very ~hort time, by the whisperings 
or talking,; of others, including the bank's own staff. This would pre­
cipitate matters before we are ready to deal with them in the best interests 
of the public, and it is that which I am specially anxious to avoid." 

A. I want this page 174 in, you have a;;;ked me two things. 
Q.-All right, I was going to refer to it later but we will take it now to satisfy 

you.-A. Well not to ::;atisfy me, but you have asked for it. 
"With a view to a::;ccrtaining the actual position of the Bank, a thor­

ou,i;h invcf'tigation will be made, under the directions of Mr. Haney and 
Mr. Maehaffie. The Board is of opinion that the result of this investi­
gation will show that the capital of the Bank is intart, and that no loss 
will be rnffered by any of its depositor,.: or ereditors, provided that it is 
not compelled, by a run of <l<>pol:'itors, to close it:-: doors. The Board feel 
strongly that if they are allowed to conduct this investigation from the 
im,ide, instead of having it conducted by some one smt in at the in;;fance 
of the Finance Department or the Canadian Banker's Association, nothing 
will happen, which would cau::;e a run by depositors,, but that if the 
investigation be conducted at the inst an re of any outside authority, the 
chances are that statements will be made, and thing,.: will be said about 
the Bank, which will cause a run, and which will force the Bank 'to closP 
its doors. This opinion is not based upon any want of confidence in ar,iy­
one who may be ,.:ent, or upon any fear that such person would himself 
disclose the confidence entrusted to him, but experienee has shown that no 
person can be f'Cnt from the outside to investigate the affairs of a Bank, 
without its beeoming known sooner or later that he haR been sent from the 
outside. This probably results from rnme unguarded though innocent 
remark made by some member of the Bank'~ own t-taff." 

He is there putting forward the view of the Direetors, he has previously 
expres,;ed his owh views. Kow what I would lilrn you to explain is how it eame 
about that Mr. La~h changed his mind within four days, became on the 29th of 
February, four days bE!fore, on page 163, he say::;: \ 

I have alway:3 thought that the inveFtigation should be by an out­
side competent person who would be quite free from any interference by 
the present management or board. 

The best cour,-e mav be to eonsult the Bankers' As-;ociation with refer­
ence to the person who is to make the investigation, a::1 it might be import-
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ant that the association should feel tJ,le to rely upon his report, if their 
a:,;.-ic;tance were a::;h.ed, imtcad of hr..ving to grt a furtlier report from their 
own nominee," 

.Four day::; after that he charn:i;Pd his mind eompletely and scouted the idea 
of an outside report and reeommendrd an in-side report. Didn't that strike you 
as fomething very extrnordirn;ry?-A. "hat ;-, the dute of that next letter? 

Q. 1\1nrch 4th, Pll page 166.-A. He Cf'rbinly did not rLange his opinion a: 
my instance. I do not know why he chan~ed it. 1 Q. Isn't it obvious?-A. No, I do not think so. 

Q. On the 29th of February be gave you his opinion as the matter 1Jr<,Pr1terl 
it-;clf to his mind.-A. What do you sugl!P"'t is oLvious? 

Q. I suggebt that it is obvious that he had bE'cn conferring with the Dire1t-Or-,; 
when he wrote his letter of March 4th and followed it afterward by the subse­
quent letter you refer to?-A. It is possible, I can only surmise brcau,-e I know 
nothing about it, but it is quite pOb3ible that Mr. Lash after talking the:-e t.hing~ 
over came to the opin1on, ju::;t as I did, thr.t if the Bankers' Associ:hon was put 
in it would cause a run on the bt.nk. I 

Q. You know perfeetly we'd that it is p0,-sible to have an audit seeretly with­
out r,ny publicity whatever-A. I know nothing of the kind. 

Q. Do you not know a r<'rf'Ilt in,-tance, a very well-known in~tance, when the 
Bank of Montrra: took over the l\Icreh::mt-.; there was an audit going on for weeks 
and month, and the public never su:;pr·rtcd it, and when the ::\forchants Bank w:1~ 
taken over by t!1e Bank of Montreal the audit had been completr,l and the terms 
upon whic·h the purcha-,ing bank was ready to buy were defined ?-A. You i,bte 
that aftH the event. As a mattrr uf •act the Merchant:- Bank at that Erne huJ 
not got into diffir·ultiP,-, a11d thf' auditor you ,-prak of,-I do not kuow that 
what you say is correct but I as:,:ume it is, but ut all event., he had nut bt•(,n 
appointed. My point is you mig!,t lwvc onl' auditor and you might -.;uccccd in 
getting through with the audit without the public Lt>roming aware of it, but on 
the otlicr hand the chancr:- are even, ir1 my opinion, that tLrou~ 11 men in the bank 
and blk in banking circles you would prodU(·e a run on the 'bank. Take the run 
that took place on the Dominion Bank recently, nothing like it in the Li~tory o~ 
Canada, starting just from a chance word. 

Q. That did not remit from the divulging of an audit.-A. It rernltcd from a 
word prncticully. 

Q. But not from an audit?-A. Xo, it did not result from an audit. 
Q. I am asking you whether it i;; not a -fart that i,ecrpt autlit:; have been made 

with th- idr·a of taking over a bank?-A. Not to my k11owlrclge. 
Q. v\'e'.I l\ir. Lw-h is sugg<'sting in this letter of Fc·bruary 29th that other 

b:mk,, would a:-.-ic:;t, and you <·ame to the conclusion that if thr Bank wat< about t<-; 
liquidate thrn you would haw it taken over by :-,nne other bank?-A. He sug­
gPstC'd that. 

Q. And you said your policy would haw l>C'en, if you thought the bank wa.,; 
going to close_it<i door-;, to have had :t bken over?-A. Ye:::. As a matter of fact 
I did not have it taken over, and con;-:equently it was for the rC'a<ion that I did 
not believe the bank was in such a condition that it should be taken over or was 
about to fail. I could easily have had it taken over. 

Q. That is not the point I am In<lking now. I am a,-king you, supposing 
you had come to the conclusion that the bank had to close it,.; doors you wou:c.l 
have tried to have it takrn OY<'r?-A. I would Lave had it taken o,·er. 

Q. That would nece:-,,arily have 1·0mpelled an audit, bccau:,;C' you cannot 
imagine anotlwr bank buying this bank ,v11hout an out--ide audit ?-A . .I\Ir. 
Lafleur, if during the war the Home Bank or any other bank, c~pecially a small 
bank,-well small or large,-was in my opinion, my judgmrnt, about to fail I 
would have made the Can&dian Banker~' A;::sociation take over tliat bank, and to 
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the extmt I thought it unjust that thPy should be saddled with it I would have 
had the Dominion Government make good. I would not have allowed a bank to 
fail during the war, and I would not have·put any auditor in, I would have done 
it quietly. 

Q. How would you have perwa<lrd yourself that you had a right to do that# 
without an outside audit?-A. Mr. Lafleur, I would not have allowLCl a bank 
to fail. It would not make any difference practically "!tat po::<ition it was in, 
unle;:;s everything was gone-

Q. Well if you put up the Government money to preventj.t failing that is 
one thing, but it you told another bnnk to take it over thnt bunk would have 
to sati-;fy itself Ly an audit, you eannot · imngine any hank doing ot l1erwi"e, 
no bank' would dare to do :;o, it woulll not be doing its duty to it,-; fhareholders. 
-A. It was a time of war, I would have gone to the Canadian Bankers' A<;soeia­
tion, not one bank necessarily, ·and I would have said to the As"oeiution: You 
take over that Home Bank. 

Q_ Do you imagine for a moment thy would haYe done that without an 
audit ?-A. I would have made them do it. 

Q. Under the War Mea:-urrs Act?-A. Either under that Act, or the fact 
is when the l\finister tells banks to do things they do them, they ran't afford 
not to. 

Q. I do not sre how you could luwe eompellPd a bank to take it OYPr -A. 
I could not legally, but htn-ing rcg:wl to the relationship betwel·n t'.ie ( tuvern­
ment and the bank,-, and the bu;;;ine"" they get from the Dominion GoYernment, 
if I a,-ked the Bankers' As•oeiation to take over the Home Bank during t!ie 
war they would have taken it over. 

Q. I unrln;:t:rnrl your suceef:sor Sir Henry Drayton put an auditor into 
the Ibnque )Jationale.-A. I don't know anything about what he did. When 
I was Minister I ne,·er asked the Banker-,' Association to do anything that 
thl'y didn't do. , 

Q. Now if there is any one kc:son that has impre:,;,-:pd it.<:elf upon us by 
thiR ease it i-- that an in.,ide audit is falhieiou,.;?-A. I think thi::, has shown it, 
and the Merchant::; has, but it wa,, not shown before that. You have s-poken 
of the Merchant:s Bank, the greatest firm of auditors in the world ,was their 
uuclitor. 

Q. But that was an inc,ide audit.-A. Yes, but when this happened that 
had not been brought to my attention. , 

Q. I am saying thi::: is a k '-"'On that teaeltcs us that an imicle audit is 
unreliable.-A. My own opinion is that either an in~ide or aIJ., outsidr audit 
i~ unreliable except by an inspection. For tLi~ rea'-t•n, a ::\Iini--tcr is put in an 
impossible pc;;;:ition; if you have a gPnnal law under which the hrad officrs of 
bank~ are in-,pel·tcd then when a man walks in tlwre is no que~tion raised, it 
is his duty. But if you take an exceptional ease and put a man into a bank, 
an individual bank, when there is no rnch law, you run a very grave chance of 
bringing about the collapse of that bank. 

Q. You are not answering my questi.on. You are dirPcting your attention 
now to the propriety and advisability of a public audit.-A. No, I am drawing 
a distinction between f,endino; a man in in an isolated C"a-;e and acting under a 
general law. 

Q. I am putting it to you that an inside audit, like the one which was 
ordered in this case to the extent to which it W::t'l ordered, was wholly deceptive. 
---A. Yes, but it was under legislation passed only a couple of years before, in 
whi<h I believed and Parliament evidently believPd that an audit was not 
deceptive. What you are referring to is something that has happened since. 

Q. I am saying that by the Act you had the right to appoint the auditor 
of the bank if you likrd, or you could have appoinkd an outsider, and you 
decided that you would appoint the in'iide man.-A. At that time. 
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Q. I am asking you if it is not a fact that this case show,- -A. Which 
ra::;e? 

Q. The Home Bank I case, ;;hows that an in:-ide audit is fall:wious and 
dPceptive?-A. Now it doc:, '-'how that but it did not 1-how it then. 

Q. Brrauc:r they gave you :-tatem('nt" manif('"t!Y deceptive, and gave your 
;-,uccl•,-sor the same statement:;, which dercivrd him also.-A. Ye~ I think so. 

Q. Now you could have te'-'ted the arrurary of tho,-,c ,-;tatcmenb if you 
had sent in your own auditor.-A. The arrura1·y of which statcmcnts, that 
I t-Pnt for ,from the Board? 

Q. That you got ?-A. If I had ~cnt in my own auditor. You mean as 
to the ·value of the ,;ccuritie,c;? 

Q. Xo, as to thl' actual book entrics.-A. I could have tc::-t.rtl the a1·tual 
book entries, there is no doubt about that, in the Frost account. 

Q. I want to show you what I mean. Take the report of Mr. Haney 
beginning at pag1· 182. The fir-,t statement I draw your attention tq is on 
page 184 where he is speaking of the Pellatt af'1ount and he :,;:ays that the 
al'euunt ha-; been rcduf'c<l bv 8284 000.-A. Yrs. 

Q. You would have ,-p(•n from the honk-;, if .-:omeone had enquirr<l fur 
you, how that reduction was brought about?--A. That is probabk, ye'-'. 

Q. That would F-how right on the book,;?-A. I a~rnme .-:o. 
Q. Would you be suprised to lrarn that the reduction was brought about 

by di..,po,-ing of tlw securities which sreur('d the rail loan .. -- "-A. I ,rnul<l not 
be rnrpri:-cd at anything in the HPme Bank ca,e. 

Q. And tho-,e werc the gilt ec!gc ;aeruritic•s. We find in the books that one 
of thc::;e securities' that waF- sold on that ocra~ion in rerluetion of the debt was 
5.000 f'hares of Dominion Steel, about the bc-,t of the sc·ruritics there.-A. ·well 
I would not sav that. In the !H'l'ount-,, ves. 

Q. I looked over the fo,t and that :::reined to me the strongef't. Do you think 
that aecount was bett>er by having a ,-ale of all the be"t :-ecuritie" and. leaving 
the balance of the acc·ount to be "ccured by inferior ,:ecuritie!'s?-A. No, that i,; 
the rea::;on I asked Mr. La,:h to take adJitional security. 

Q. Tltat was a very deceptive shtrment, whieh hint-cd or suggc.;ited that the 
account had been reduced by a ca,.;h payment when as a mattrr of fact it was 
by the ;;acrifice of the best 1-rcurities, leaving the acc·ount so much tho wor,,e?-A. 
Ye~, to that extent it wa1- dereptive. 

Q. That is one item that could have been verified by an auditor?-A. I 
think 1-0. 

Q. That is where an out;;ide audit would have been very valuable?-A. It 
would have bren if the Minister had decided upon that action. 

Q. I am not quC'~tioning the propriety of your decision but I am ;;uying if 
in;:frad of an in!:-ide man reporting, if you had not taken the Prc:aident's word 
you would have learned the truth about that acrount?-A. Ye:,;, I think that is 
probable. 

Q. Take anothC'r statrment in that same letter. At page 185 the President 
sav~: , 

· "The inference to be drawn from ~lr. l\fochaffie's statem<>nt-, with 
reference to dividend:,; paid by the Bank ~rems to be that these dividend,; 
werc paid out of capital, and not out of Profits. This "'\akmenti or in­
ference, is unfounded. J\o dividend;; have bc-rn paid out of capital, and the 
profits of the Bank, actually earned, have been amply sufficient to warrant 
the payment of the dividend~ whieh have been declared." 

A. Right. 
Q. If an out"i<le auditor had examined the books he would have found that 

they had been capitalizing intere1-t, or rather placing uncollected intere"t to the 
credit of Profit and Lot's, not only in 1916 but in previou:, Yl'ars, and that they 
Wl'nt on doing $0 to the end.-A. Apparently not, but however-

• 
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Q. Do not be misled by that statement of Mr. Haney'::,, they did not take 
into account unpaid interest on the Frost aecount for four years from 1918 to 
1921, but in all the other bad aceounts, frozen account:;, they ·were p~issing into 
Profit and Lo"'" account the unpaid interest, which ran into millions towards the 
end, and which at this. date in 1916 amounted as far a<; I can see from the books 
to about $1,000,000 already.-A. Ye;:;, we had that information before of the 
capitalization of intere::,t b,ecause I ::,poke to Mr. Barnard and Mr. Haney about 
it, but in 1918 after I got the Machaffie letter the resolution of the Board of 
Directors stated that they had taken it up tb 1916 and 1917 but I understood 
that from that on, and you now say the same thing, that interest was not taken 
in the Fro,:,t account. 

Q. For four y-ears.-A. I was not Mini::;ter after 1919. 
Q. But it wa:; going on praetically in reference to all the other frozen 

account::;.-A. But after I went out as Minister I did not consider myself custodian 
of the Home Bank. 

Q. You misunder:-tand me. I s~iy in 1916 and until the time you left that 
w~s going on all the timr.-A. Apparently not, you say for four years it was 
not. 1 

Q. I said as to the Frost aceount it was not. As to all the other accounts it 
was.-A. What do you mean by all the other? 

Q. All the other inactive, frozen account<,.-A. There were only three brought 
to my atkntion. 

Q. Well whose fault was that? You need not have limited your audit to 
those three or four aeeounts.-A. But these were the only accounts brought to 
my attention. 

Q. By the Western directors.-A. Or anyone else. 
Q. But if you had sent a competent auditor in tlwre he would have discovered 

what we know now from a mere inspection of the books. This was not confined 
to tho--,P four years, it was a general practice with regard to all the inactive 
aecounts.-A. Yes, I think if I had :,;ent in a goorl man at that time he would 
have found that out. But my point i~, only three account, were drawn to my 
attention and I have sworn that I had absolutely no notice that any other 
accounts were bad. · 

Q. But if you had sent an auditor in he would have discovered then what 
we have discovered to-day.-A. If, he was a good man he probably would, 
although I have not a great deal of confidence in auditors. 

Q. Well Mr. Clarkson has done that, and our auditor has done that without -
any difficulty. They have found thebe inactive accounts where interest was 
piled up year after year and the amount carried to Profit and Lo!":- and dividend-, 
paid out of those filtitions earnings:\A: I think as far as t~e book-keeping ~nd 
is con<;erned an acrountant or auditor 1s u,-eful, but when 1t comes to valumg 
securities I have not much confidence in auditors, becau,;e they are book-keepers 
essentially, and accountants. 

Q. Then on the same page (185) Mr. Haney tells you what the profits 
were in 1917.-A. Yes he tells me that. \ 

Q. $217,000 for 1917, $228,000 for 1918. Now if you had looked at the 
books you would hav,e found what I am t.rlliljlg you, that the::ae were made up 
in the way I have told you, and that these profits were not earned. So that was 
a wrong statement ?-A. I think it was. 

Q. And that could have been di-,covered by an auditor?-A. If in the exercise 
of my discretion I had put in an outside auditor in::,tead of doing what I also had 
the. di-,rretion to do, calling for a report from thf' Boflrd and the f\Uditor of the 
bank, then what you mention would have been discovered if as a matter of fact 

it is a fact. , 
Q. Well I ac::sume that because it has been proved in this case and will be 

confirmed by everyone who looks at the books.-A. You know it is easy to be 

wise after the e¥ent. 
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Q. I am making a distinrtion betm·rn what we know by after-arquired 
knowledp:e, I am leaving that out of ron..,idrration; I am simply asking you 
about items whirh could have been dic;coverui in the hooks.-A. If the auditor 
had bern appointrd, ~·es, quite ~fl, that i~ all right~ 

Q. Another t.hing I want to a-sk your about in that ronnection. I have 
just been asking you about 11r. Haney's r,,t.at.cment.;; to you in 1918 and the 
errors contained in them. Now I draw vour atfa:ntion to another btatement made 
in 1916 by tlie -,ame gentleman in his letter' to you of June 14th whieh you find 
on page 176.-A. Yes I have that. 

Q. He tleal..; fir--t of all wit,h what he calls th Toronto matter, then the 
Xcw Orlrans matt.Pr, and thrn the Brit.ieh Columbi:1 matter. I will not trouble 
you with the Toronto matter because that deals with additional ,-;fcurities which 
hud bcc>n reeommrnded l)V ::\1r. La"h. But I draw vour attention to the fact 
that in the third pt>rtgraph on p'.'tge 177 he say,.:: · 

, "On May 26th and 27th a full Board meeting; was held and was 
marked by complete harmony throughout; all doubtful accounts were 
di-,cus::,ed and appropriation-,, f,,r lf,-.,,ei m:.:.de; the agirepte of these 
appropriations, tog;rther with a conc:iderable sum for good measure, is Leing 
transferred from Rr:-t Acrount." 

A. I believed that, I was delighted to hear it. 
Q. ·would you be deE~l,ted to hear that the ::.mount that wa,; appropriated 

out of R(•:,;rn·e Fund to ml Pt tlm-•' doubtful acr"unt..c; was wholly inadPquate?­
A. Very , orry to hear it. 

Q. The doubtful a, ruunt-- a+ that tin,(• amount.ing to over $300,00J, and 
there wa:i exactly $100,000 taken out of RP:it to make provision fur doubtful 
account~.-~-A. If that »tatement is corrcrt, this ~btcment which I was glad to 
receive is fraudulent and deceptive. 

Q. Let me earry that one r-atcp further. ·would you be surprified and shocked 
to LPar that subsequently, after rarrying that $100,000 out of Rrst and placing 
it to secure doubtful accounts, it was carried into Profit and Loss and taken 
as a profit ju~ti;ying the di6tribution c,f a dividend ?-A. Very much surprised 
to hear it, and if so, mnst improper. 

Q. You will find that in the books.-A. \,Yell you say so. 
Q. l\Ir. Clurkbon has i-worn to it, he hac;; pointed out where it is in the 

bookf'.-A. Y cs he has done it now. 
Q. So that was another gro.:':,ly fallacious statemPnt ?-A. lTndouLtedly. 
Q. Another evidence thd if you ask the President or Manager of a bank, 

or ewn the auditor, the rf'gular auditor of the bank, to reas~ure you as to its 
condition, thc-;e ge'ntlemrn are generally going to rea:::rnre you.-A. $inl'e when 
have you had that opinion 9 

Q. Well it has bPl n borne in on me in my over forty ye,us of pnirtice 
-A. It has not been borne in on me exC'cpt these last two or three years, it was 
borne in on me in conne,'tion with the Merchants and with the Home Bank, 
but I do not for a moment subscribe to the ~btement that if you ac;k the 
President and General ::\1anager of a bank, men who are abrnlutely honest, that 
you are going to w>t a f a],:e statc:ment. 

Q. In the case of a first rate bank; but a ba,ck whose accounts were in the 
condition they were ;:aid to be by thr~e wr:-tfrn DirP•-tors, you do not as a rule 
expect to get any a":-urance that you can rely on by applying to the manage­
ment when the management is allef!:cd to be 3'l bad as this?-A. It depends on 
your view of the men. If you come to the conclusion that there has been 
imprudence, but a new Prc;:idC'nt is put in as Mr. Haney was, you rely on him, 
you do not think the mun is a crook. If you did you could not clo busine,-s at 
all, and I do not say he is a crook, I do not know. 

I 
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Q. I do not know what definition you give to the word, and I am not asking 
}OU to c:111 him Ly hny naml ,. I am simply asking you to admit that he wr.s 
decriving you in letter after letter.-A. Without any doubt the 1>tatement-; he 
has made, in vil'w of what you :my were false, but wlll·ther to his knowledge or 
not I <;:mnot "ay, I eannot swPar to it. 

Q \YP!l they were false to the knowledge of some officer in that bank?-A. 
That i:- probable. 

Q. And they emanated from officer:;: in that bank, whethc·r the Manager or 
Pm,ident I do not know.-A. I think you are right, but I am not going to be put 
in the prn,ition of swearing, beeause I do not know, that becauRe a statement 
contains something fabe it was false to the knowledge of the man who made it. 

Q. I am not aRking you to, my only point is you got information that was 
wholly unreliab'.e be(·ausP you got it from the in«ide. - A. That is quite probable, 
that seem:, to be so. 

Q. Now, then, you ,aid that if you hnd had any indiC'ation that, the Lank 
was on the verge of liquidation, yrm would have arted more drastically than 
you did ?-A. I would have had it taken over. 

Q. Now, did not the lcEPr of Mr. La~h, datC'd 29th FPbruary, 1916, at page 
163 alarm you, because he says here:-

" In my interview with you at Ottawa on the 22nd, I expressed my 
personal opinion as to the general po-;ition, and I said that my main 
object was, to so mamge matters that if the bank had to liquidate,-" 

A. Yee,, " had to." 
Q. " the liquidation might be with open doors.'' 

A. Yes. 
Q. NQw, he was contemplating the possibility of liquidation ?-A. Un­

doubtedly, and I was contemplating getting the Bankers' Association to look 
into it. 

Q. And the only thing that prevented you from doing it was that deceptivr 
letter of Haney's?--A. No-

Q. And you believed in his integrity?-A. In two or three thing,;. In 
the fir:;t pb:re, Mr. La~h changed his Yie,Y a few day::; later-

Q. In four days?-A. Yf•"· 
Q. I do not think he elrnnged hi~ view. I think in his first letter he 

expres;,;ed his own view, anrl in the next he expressed the view of the Board?­
A. That is N"o. 1. ~o. 2 is, the Board was harmonized, and they stated that, 
in their opinion, an investigation would Bhow that. the rapital ,v'as intact. 
In addition to that, I think that Messrs Haney and Crerar, in the latter of 
whom I have undoubted confidence, in fact, I had confidence in both at that 
time, had reported on the Western limits. I think I had that before me, and 
that Mr. Haney had reported on the New Orleans situation, and consequently 
the Board had come to the l'unclu~ion that they could put the bank on a better 
basis, and in view of the fact, as I have stated to you, that by putting in the 
Bankers' Association it would, in my view, at that time, after the representa­
tions made to me, probably have the effect of causing a run upon the bank. 
You are quite right in saying that I had complete confidence in Mr. Haney, 
in the statements made to me. 

Q. You have just given a second reason, apart from your belief in Mr. 
Haney and the report' which he made to you. You have just stated .that 
harmony had been re-established between the Directors ?-A. Yes, sir. 

~- But you were of opinion, according to your letter of the 21st of 
February, 1916, at page 86, that even if harmony were re::;tored that would 
be no reason for staying your hand ?-A. I did say that. 
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Q. You said this:-
" It doe::i not appear to me that I would be juo:tificd in foregoing 

my request for such information on the ground that the Board is now 
in harmony." 

A. No, and I got the information. Now, read that again. 
Q. You got some information.-A. I got the information I a;;ked for from 

the Board. I in.,,i::,ted on gE>tting it. l\Ir. La--h :-aid, the Board i::i in harmony, 
:;urdy you are not going to ask for that information. I saip I wanted that 
information, and: I got the information I a::,ked for, from the Board of 
Director::i and l\Ir. La~h. 

Q. I am afraid you did not a,;k for enough information.-A. That may 
fe, but I do not want you t? mi~rcpre-:,ent the -;ituatio~. , 

Q. I do not want to ml:'-rcpre~t·nt you, far from 1t.-A. "ell, :vou know, 
you are ( tovernment counsel. 

Q. You stop me if you think I am misrepre,-enting the ;;ituation, brrause 
I ha,•e no ;;ueh de:-ire.-A. I am very < nn-<'iou:- of 1 he fact tkLt there are two 
coun-:pJ for the Government, ~cveral for the depositors, and none for the 
Mini;;ter::i. 

Mr. LEE: That is not our fault, ::,ir Thoma.,;. 
WnNEf'.S: It is not your fault! Do you mran to say it i~ fair to a-k me, 

a private citizen, to give up my time and attend all thP~c hraring:-, or pay 
out three hundred or four hundred rlollars to have roun::,cl represent me here"? 

Q. Have you ever made any application to the Uovernmcnt for coun,,rl'?­
A. X o, I hav.e not. Your !orrbhip, t lie Prime l\Iini~ter of this l'OUntry got up 
in the Hou;;r of Commons and :-aid there if' a chargP made again,-t my:'elf, and 
when the Commi~•ion was enlarged a charge again-:t Sir Henry Drayton and 
Mr. FiE'lding, and here we haw coun,-cl for the depositors, counsel for the 
Dominion GoVC'rnmrnt, and no coun:-el for the three Mini,,trr,,, and I am 
asking Mr. Lafleur to be fair in thi::: matter, as coun-:el for the Governmmt. 

~1r. LAFLJTR: The roun::,el for tle Covernm('nt dl"-in•-: to bJ fair to every 
Ministrr, and I am nut r,m,-rious of having departc,l from that line of rnnduct 
yet, ~ir Thoma:;. 

W JTNE"'S: I j u-,t draw it to your attrntion, berau~e t Li-: is an extraordinary 
constitutrd body of lawyers. 

Mr. LAFLEl:R: If I fail in that it will be from inadvertcnre, 1t will not be 
because I am merely Government cuun,.:eJ. 

WITNEf'S: Your duty Lring to t hl' Gove,rnmPnt of this rountry, as your 
client, you are not in a position to be otherwise, you are bound to havr a rnlor. 

Mr. LASLLt;R: If you mran to -ay, Sir Thomas, that I am bound to find 
you guilty of negligPnce, there is no such duty imposed upon me, I have no 
sm·h mandate. My mandate i,.: tu invr,-tigate this matter and find out the 
facts. 

\VnN1.-:s: But I do ~;iy thi:i, that you are counsel for the Dominion Gov­
€rnment, and the Prime .Minister of this country ha:; :,mid, in the House of 
Commons. or has made the statemc•nt that I am a political opponent of his, 
although 'I nm a private eitizen and not in politirs. Xow, then, he said a chare;e 
had been made against me, and that this Commission is enlarged against the 
others, and do you mean to :-:ay that courn,el for the Dominion Government 
ran repre~ent the interest:- of_ the three l\lini,,;ters here? 

Mr. LAFLELR: I do not ~ee why, Sir Thomas. 
WITNESS: Well, I 1::ee why. 

• 

Mr. LAFLEUR: I am not playing politic::i. You are mi::,taken if you think 
I have undertaken any such mandate. I am here to investigate this matter and 
find out the truth. Now, if the fact~ hurt anybody it will not be my fault. 

• 
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WITNEss: They do not hurt me. 
Mr. LAFLEt:R: Well, I am happy to hear it; becau:;e, ;:;o far, I have not 

meant to be unfair. 
WITNESS: Except a little animu-i I observe in your bearing rather than in 

your questions, and it i:,; only because of the fact that you are counsel for the 
Dominion Government. 

Mr. LA:FLEl.R: Well, I am trying to recon'cile what appeared to be irrecon­
cilable statement;; in this corre;apondence. 

WITNESS: Yes, quite so. 
Q. Now, then. I would like to draw your attention to page 162, Exhibit 

No. 71, where you say: 
"It doe• not appear to me that I would be justified in stayinP.; , 

enquiry becau:,;e the Winnipeg Directors may a~k me to suspend action. 
The real quc~tion i~ whether the Bank, having regard to the \'onclition 
which will be disclosed by the statements should be allowed to continue 
busines~. with the public." 

A. Right. 
Q. That wa~ the real question ?-A. Certainly it wt:,s, and I said so in that 

letter. 
Q. You could easily conceive that the Directors might have pulled the 

wool over the eye-, of the Wc:5krn Director,; ?-A. I did not conceive any such 
thing. 

1 

• 

Q. Well, you can conceive it ,now, it is easy to conceive now?-A. Oh, 
very. 

Q. That being the ca:,e, you are quite right, in thinking that it was in the 
jntere:-.t8 of the public, that that ought to guide you and not the restoration 
of harmony bet\, een the Dircdors, becau:::e that might be the result of a mi::;­
t,1.ke?-A. Yes. 

Q. Then at page 165, that was in March, 1916, you said that you kept 
yourself free to lay tlw fad., before the BankPr'-' A:::sociation'!-A. Ye:-. 

Q. You alway;,; kept that in mind?-A. I always kept that in mind, for I 
waR dealing with Mr. La~h at arm's length. 

Q. Yr:--, and at page 167 you went a little further. You said in your lettn 
of the 8th of March: 

"It is altogether probable that after that date I shall feel it my 
duty to bring the Bank's affairs to the attention of the Association. They 
will then have before them the material with which I have been furnished 
and Mr. Haney's report, which they would no doubt desire to see before 
taking action." 

:3o that you were contemplating action even after you got Mr. Haney's 
,rpport?-A. Which report of Mr. Han(ly's? Mr. Haney's ~ort of June do 
vou mean? 
· Q. No, the previous report that you were expecting?-A. Oh, you mean 
the report of the bank's affairs? 

Q. Y es.-A. "They will then have before them that material-" 
Q. You were contemplating action even after receiving the reports?-A. 

There isn't any doubt about that. So far as I can judge, I had it in my mind 
right down to the time that the Board was harmonized, and the Western 
;Directors, in whom I had confidence, r,aid, now, we have confidence in Haney, 
we have all agreed upon him, and we feel we can get along, the very men who 
had brought the matter to my attention said, now, we practically withdraw 
that and we go on again, men in whom I have confidence, and e.very re;i,son to 
have confidence. 

I 
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Q. I _suppm,e they did not get any more ::a.rnnte information tl1an you lud 

~1t thr timc?-A. They Wl're Directors of the Bank, and I had every right to 
t'aume that thry had arrurate information with regard to it, and the only 

thin•~ they were roncerned about w:1-; the account; they had brought to my 
attention. 

Mr. LAFu.rn: I think that is all, thank you, Sir Thomas. 

Cross-ExaminuJ, by Mr. Lu: 

Q. The first dangrr signal that you <.i;ot was frum the We~tern Directors in 
1916_?-A. You call it a danger signal, I -unpo-r you ntay. 

Q. As l\1ini-4er of Finance, it w 1. ~'l dt::1p rou;; that you thought it brttcr 
to bkc ,some act.ion aL: ,ut it ?-A. Y 1 ", it wr.,: -o di,,turbing. 

Q. That is foe w:1y you put it bv:nre, "di~turhing?"-A. Yr:::. 
Q. Anrl certain statemenis were made thPre which you thoui-:ht were dis­

turbing. Now, tho;:;e statements having hrt·n rerrived, you thought it y1mr duty 
tu invcstigate?-A. Yes, t'.rnt is rigi1t, to call for a report upon. 

Q. Well, you s:1w fit to invc~tigatr by calling for a rrport, i:::n't that the 
\\ay t-0 put it?-A. Well, that is a littl:.- different in shade of meaning. 

Q. I do not se::i that it is any cl;ffrrent. You were obliged, a, Mini,-trr of 
Finance, to make surh an in\"C~stig:1tion as to call for a rrpurt, v, ill you pu,t it 
that way to be fair?-Y cs, under thr Bank Act. 

Q. Under the Bank Act?-A. Right. 
Q. You did not know Mr. Per~~c, I bclieve?-A. No, I did not know 

him. 
Q. Nor did you know Mr. Kennedy?-A. Except by reputation. 
Q. But you hacl known Mr. Crerar for some years, had you not ?-A. At that 

time I had not known him Yery well, except by reputation. 
Q. Well, you knl'w he was a man of 1-,tanding in the community?-A. Oh, 

unrloubterlly. I had conficknce in him. 
Q. And, as a bank Director, you knew that he would not make :::tatements 

of thi,- nature unlc;;:~ there was ~ome foundation for tlH,m ?-A. Oh, not at all. 
Q. So tltat whm you received that rPport, as you say, it was very disturbing, 

and, to a Minister of Financr, it should have been a danger signal, should it not, 
to you?-A. You are u;:;ing a term that I would not use, but certainly it was 
very disturbing, and that is the reason I called for the report. 

Q. And it was something that should haYe placC'd you in a po,:;ition of being 
rnspieiou,; if you were never suspiciom, before?-A. I would not say suspicious. 

Q. Well, I am saying suspirious, Sir Thomas?-A. I would not ,;ay that 
in regard to all the loans. For example, the Fro::,t loan wac; an improving 
loan. 

Q. Which of these loam were you suspiciom about when you received that 
communication from Fisher?-A. I do not believe the word "suspicious" is the 
right word at all. 

Q. Wdl, I am going to u-c the word ";;uspiciou-;."~A. I have no objection 
to your using it, except that I do not adopt your phra,-eology. 

Q. There are certain facts presented to you by gentlemen in whom you have 
confidence, busines'3 men in the community, and directors of a bank?-A. 
Yes. 

Q. And those gentlPmrn come to you and make certain statements against 
the management of that bank?-A. Yes. 

Q. And you have no reason, or up to that moment you have no su,;picions 
at all?-A. Not to my knowledge. 

Q. And then you rec(\ived that letter, and, as a member of the Bar, nnd 
as Finnnce Minister, don't you think that any man, having regard to the 

• 
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public interests, would at that time, when you received such a letter begin to 
have some suspicions that all things were not right in that bank?-A. No, quite 
the contrary, I think. 

Q. Now, the reason for your being quite the contrary was that you and 
Mr. Lash were very friendly?-A. No, not at all. 

Q. Just a minute now, will you follow me. And Mr. Mason, the Manager, 
was a neighbour of yours?-A. Yes, he was a neighbour of mine. 

Q. Yes, and Colonel Mason, who was Assistant Manager, was also a friend 
of yours?-A. No, sir, I did not know him at all. 

Q. Nod did you know Mr. Persse at that time?-A. Ko. I did not. 
Q. Nor did you know Mr. Kennedy?-A. No. 
Q. But he also had the greatest confidence in Mr. Lash ?-A. Yes, but you 

are putting your queetion now so that my answer appears wrong. 
Q. I do not want it to appear wrong, I want to be perfectly fair. If I am 

not fair, please tell me.-A. I think you are not. However, I want to go back 
to the question you asked me, two or three questions back. It was suggested 
in your c.J'ltestioq that the reason I was not suspicious was because Mr. Lash was 
a friend of mine. When I got the Fisher communication I had not been in touch 
with Lash rtt all, and that I at once called upon the Board, under the Bank Act, 
for a report, and upon the Auditor. Up to that time, Mr. Lash had not been 
brought into it at all. 

Q. And he was not the solictor of the bank at that time?-A. Not to my 
knowledge. 

Q. He wa'3 not appointed regularly as solicitor until after this communica­
tion had reached you ?-A. Apparently not, although, a:; was pointed out this 
morning, he had done some special counsel work. · 

Q. I am speaking about being regularly appointed?-A. Yes. . 
Q. And thl'y eent to you thP man in whom you had probably, of all men, 

the µ:reatest eoi;ifidenre; Mr. Lash ?~-A. I would not say that. I had absolute 
confidence in him, but I have in a great many men. 

Q. But you had more in Mr. La,c;h than you probably had in nine-tenths 
of your arquaintances?-A. I would not say that. 

Q. You had been associated with him for a good many years?-A. I had 
been, yes. 

Q. And you and he were on the National Trust Board together?-A. Yes. 
Q. And the Bank of Commerce Board together?-A. No, I was not on the 

B:.mk of Commerce Board then. 
Q. Not at that time?-A. No, i::ir . 
Q. However, you had been in politic~ to~ether?-A. Yes. 
Q. And you wrote a famous letter in 1911 together?-A. I-wonder if we 

are getting into the realm of politics . 
Q. Never mind, I want tu show this connection. Is not that true?-A. 

That I wrote a letter? 
Q. Y es.-A. I don't think i::o. I signed a letter. 
Q. Who wrote it?-A. I do not know. I think it was a composite docu­

ment, evidently very effective. 
Q. However, you and he wrre very closely a.Hied from 1911 up to this date? 

-A. No, I would not say so. ,vhen I went to Ottawa I got out of touch with 
most of my Toronto friends. I gave up all my directorships. 

Q. But anyhow, Mr. Lash came down und he saw you, with Mr. Haney, 
and you had a consultation as to the advisability of placing this bank in the 
hands of the Bankers' Association, or having an investigation from within, as 
you call it?-A. Yes, as shown by the correspondence. 

Q. And the final ending of that was that you did have an investigation from 
within?-A. Yes. 
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Q. And then along in 1918 you got another danger signal; you got a letter 
from Mr. Machaffie?-A. Yes. 

Q. Did you know Machaffie, or who he was?-A. I did not know him 
personally. _ 

Q. Did you make any inquirief' at that time as to who he was?-A. I 
do not think I made inquiry, except I had known that Mr. Machaffie had been 
brought down from Winnipeg as Assistant to the Manager, and was quite 
highly spoken of by the Western Directors, and by Mr. Lash. 

·Q. Yes, and they even brought him down and introdced him to you ?-A. 
Not to my recollection, Mr. Lee. 

Q. I am instructed so. Don't you remember that, Sir Thomas?-A. I 
do not. 

Q. Do you remember Haney bringing down ~fr. Machaffie and introducing 
him to you, and telling you that they were going to appoint a new Manager? 
-A. As a matter of fact, Mr. Lee, I do not; a'> a matter of recollection I 
absolutely do not. 

Q. Of cour::,e, you had so many things on your mind at that time that I 
do not wonder at it, it was a small incidrnt.-A. I certainly had. I do not deny 
probably having met Mr. Machaffie, but I do not remember the incident. 

Q. Did you make any inquirief' to find out whether he was a reliable man 
or not, or whether you should pay any attention to his statement?-A. Not 
other than appears on the record. 

Q. You wrote to Mr. ::\fochaffie I believe, a letter in which you took some 
,cognizance of his ,:tatement?-A. Yef'. 

Q. Then, pursuant to his statement, you wrote to the bank?-A. Yes. 
Q. And you asked them, what about this letter, and you sent them a copy 

of it?-A. Right. 
Q. And you cent a copy to ~fr. L:.ish ?-A. If you say so, I do not recollect. 
Q. That is my memory.-A. I have no doubt I did. 
Q. And they made a report to you?-A. Yee:;, 
Q. And in that report they led you to believe that Machaffie was a man 

who could not be relied on?-A. They did undoubtedly. 
Q. That was generally the purport of the report ?-A. They suggested in 

that that Mr. Machaffie's motive was sinister, and there was certain corres­
pondence there which they were prepared to show me,. showing that he aspired 
to be General Manager, and evidently before Mr. Lash had written the letter, 
that Mr. Machaffie had quarrelled with Mr. Haney. 

Q. Did you inve;;tigate whether that fact was true or not?-A. No. 
Q. Did you make any inquiries at all ~n any other directions?-A. No. 

It sel•med to me to be a quarrel. 
Q. Don't you think it might have been your policy to say: Here are two 

complaints, one in 1916 which you had investigated and found to be somewhat 
true, and one in 1918 from an officer of the bank, who was af'sistant to the 
President 'and I believe so wrote you, that. these danger signals should have 
created in your mind sotne suspicion about this bank.-A. Not about any­
thing except what was drawn to my attention. Mr. Machaffie drew the three 
accounts to my attention, and an account which he stated Mr. Stewart was 
intere,:ted in and which had been paid off. His letter seemed to be quite in­
accurate in that respect and that ~o a certain extent discredited his letter in my 
eyes, and obviously there was a quarrel. I did not conceive it to be the duty 
of the Minbter of Finance to investigate a quar:rel between the General Manager 
and another officer. It is not the job of the Minister of Finance to go into banks 
and settle disputes between officers. 

Q. It was not your duty to interfere in those internal matters of the bank, 
I can quite understand that, but your public duty was quite plain to you, and 
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that was that the depositors and shareholders had a very large interest in this 
bank and in the protection of that it was your duty to see whether the facts 
which had been laid before you in 1916 and which had been supplemented by 
Machaffie, an officer of the bank, were true.-A. The duties of the Minister of 
Finance arise under the Bank Act. There has been a lot of talk about the duty 
of the Minister of Finance. His duty arises under the Bank Act, and it is in 
his absolute and unconditioned discretion when he gets a complaint, whether 
he will ask the Board of Directors for a report under 113, or whether he will 
ask an auditor, or whether he will do nothing. It is in his absolute uncon­
ditioned discretion. 

Q. So you told us yesterday, but you do not agree that this Royal Com­
mission is properly ,constituted and that it can overrule your discretion?-A. I 
am answering you, when you talk about the duties of a Minister of Finance, I 
will raise that question at the proper time for his lordship to determine; he 
is quite capable of determining it; and I-am raising it now only because you 
speak of the dutic'3 of a Minister of Finance, and I am telling you what his 
duties are and where they arise. They arise under the Bank Act. · 

Q. What are some of the principal duties, as you found them while you 
were Minister of Finance, under the Bank Act? First, to protect the depo::Jitors, 
the bill-holders, and the shareholders. Was not that part of your duty?-A. 
I would not put it that way, although as a matter of fact I should be very glad 
to protect1 them. • 

Q. So you said in your communication to the paper.-A. The Bank Act 
lays down the lines under which a Minister of Finance may act, and after all 
the Mini,:ter of Finance is controlled by that Act, he must act in accordan~e' with 
the law. He must not act unlawfully, but he is given a discretion and he may 
exercise that discretion or not, that is my contention, a:Q.d I did exercise it by 
calling on the Board, as has been the practice of the Department right along, 
under section 113, for a report with reference to any complaint. 

Q. But I understand that in these comp}aints and in one complaint parti­
cularly, they asked you for an inve~tigation of all the affairs of the bank, and 
not only about three or four accounts, did they not?-A. Yes, but Mr. Lee, 
people may ask a Minister of Finance for anything they like, but whether the 
Mini:,ter of Finance, having regard to his view of the situation, will comply 
with their request or not, is a very different proposition. 

Q. Will you tell me, Sir Thomas, in your opinion as Minister of Finance, 
what are the people. of Canada paying the Finance Department for?-A. You 
mean the Minister of Finance? 

Q. Paying the Minister of Finance and his staff.-A. I will answer that 
in this way, that if you had been Minister of Finance from 1911 to 1919 you 
would not ask that question. I received I t!vnk $7,000 a year, and I think I was 
out of pocket $10,000 a ye~r every 1ear I was there. . 

Q. But I am not speakmg about·you. You should take nothmg per::;onally. 
A. You put it in that way. , 

Q. I did not mean it in that way? I am speaking of the duty of the 
Department of Finance, having regard to the fact that they are the only people 
who can look into the banking system of this country. Is it not the business 
of the Department to exerci~e such supervision over all the banks that the 
people won't lose their money, isn't that right?-A. The duty of the Depart­
ment of Finance arises under the Bank Act. It is idle to talk of their having 
supervision apart from the Statute which gives them certain duties and confers 
upon them certain discretionary action. If you want to know what the duties 
of the Department of Finance are, look at the Bank, Act. There is no provision 
for the inspection of banks. 

Q. And do you mean to tell me, Sir Thomas, that under the Bauking Act 
of this country, the Finance Department having a responsible Minister and 

78093--4½ 



376 ROYAL COJfMISSION 

Deputy and a lar11:e staff, has no means of making an inspection of any bank 
which the Minister in his diE>cretion may ::;ee fit to make.-A. The Minister 
may do certain things, as I have pointed out, and if you want to see what the 
Minister may do, read the f-ections. 

Q. It is not what the Minister may do, but we will see what section 56A 
says: 

"The Minister may direct and require any auditor appointed under 
the next preceding section." 

A. That is appointed by the shareholders. 
Q. "Of this Act, or any other auditor who he may select, to examine 

and inquire especially into any of the affairs on business of the bank, 
and tbe auditor so appointed or selected, as the case may be, shall, at 
the conclusion of his examination and inquiry, report fully to the Min-
ister the rc:mlts thereof." - ' 

A. Right. 
Q. Now you and I 1agree upon that.-A. That is, he may became the 

Statute says so. · 
Q. No, but he must, and it is his duty if his suspicion.; are warranted in 

his mind under his discrrtion, isn't that it ?-A. That I think would be so in 
the actual working out, but as a matter of fact it ::;ays the l\Iinister may call 
for an audit, and may call for a report from the Board at any time. That is 
what I did. 

Q. Yes, and what I am quarrelling with you about, and what we depositors 
arc qu;trrelling with you about is, that you only went a rertain di:,tance, and 
that instead of getting some independent man to make an investigation either 
from your own dcpartWJ.ent or some independent auditor, that you go and ask 
a gentleman in the service of the bank to make that audit.-A. Bccam-e the 
Statute' authorizes me to do it. ' 

Q. Of course the Statute authorizes you to do that, but the Statute 
authorized you to get another auditor didn't it ?-A. Yes, but it authorized 
me to u-;e the auditor who 'wps there or get ~nothcr. 

Q. Couldn't you have got another aucht-or?-A. Of course I could have 
got one, yes. 

Q. And the only reason you did not get another auditor was the great 
confidence that you hurl in ~fr. Lash?-A. No my duties arose under the Bank 
Act; I called upon the Board under r::ection 113, and as I have said here twenty 
times, I C'alled on the auditor of the Bank under ~ettion 56A and I •did not 
call in an outside auditor because as a matter of fact, as I have explained to 
you, if I had it would have brought about a run on the bank. 

Q. That was a matter in your .ipinion and probably at that time you may 
have been right and I may, be wrong, but the results are all wrong.-A. But of 
opinion controlled my action at tha_t time. 

Q. Your opinions of course control your actions, and your actions wPre 
grf'at I'y controlled by the letters you rec-eived from these Directors at that 
time?-A. l\Iy confidence, which had been disturbed, as I stated in my letters, 
was largely restored by the displacement of General Mason by Mr. Haney, 
the,harmonizing of the Board, and the rrpref-entations made to me as to the 
Frost timber account and the New Orleans account. 

Q. Don't you think, after these 1fonger signals, that it might have been 
very advantageous to you as the Minister, with these disturbing influences, 
that you might have asked for some proper cruising of theFe timbrr limits?-A. 
The best answer to that is that I did not and I do not find any authority. 

Q. You had the power?-A. I don't know that I had. I may have. To 
cruise a timber limit? Do you mean for me to go out and examine that timber 
limit? -

' 
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Q. Oh no, you and I are not cruisers?-A. I should think not. 
Q. But you could have got some officer of your own Department to go 

out and have proper cruises made.-A. Oh, Mr. Lee, what are proper cruises 
of a timber limit? I have had a timber limit in my lifetime, and you can get 
as widely different opinioll6 as to the value of a timber limit as you can with 
regard to a piece of real estate. • 

Q. You would have f1ad some independent advice, then, would you not, 
and don't you think that would have been reasonable? You see, Sir Thomas, 
you,, were taking the opinions of the Directors, and of their Counsel, and of 
the Directors' appointee, and the auditor, that is the shareholders' auditor.-A. 
But of the Directors who had brought this to my attention, and who by reason 
of that were regarded by me as honest, and when Mr. Crerar, and Mr. Haney, 
came back from British Qolumbia and reported on that Western timber limit, 
I thought there would be either no loss or a very small loss, and I knew the 
general timber situation at that time. 

Q. You say you knew, ju'3t as you have told me, that you had not much 
opinion about cruisps, and you knew that the war was going on, and that timber 

• wus going up in price?-A. Yes. 
Q. And the report which they made to you, of 1916, of the value of this 

timber, you presumed that it was at war prices?-A. ·well, timber was valuable 
and we did not know-how kmg the war would last. 

Q. Don't you think it would have been a natural thing for you to get some 
independent valuation of that timber at normal prices, in normal times.-A. If 
they could have sold it during the war time, for the prices obtained then, that 
would be just as real money as if they sold it out in normal times. . 

Q. But they had not told you thll,t they were going to sell it out?-A. Mr. 
Crerar and Mr. Haney reported that it could be sold in from three to five yeal"". 

Q. In five years?-A. Three to five years. 
Q. But if the war was over, prices wouM naturally go down or might go up? 

-A. We did not know whether the war would last five, seven or ten years. 
Q. I want to get down to normal. Prices were abnormal during the war and 

I want to see if that valuation that they made was in your opinion a proper 
valuation, I want to get the state of your mind at that time.-A. The state of my 
mind with regard to that was, that I had confidence in the report whirh they 
brought back, with regard to that timber limit. I did not conceive it any part of 
my duty as Minister to go cruising a timber limit and I don't conceive that it 
is to-day, nor do I conceive that it is under the Statute, nor do I conceive that any 
one in the Finance Department could pm:sibly go out there and examine into a 
limit and report uptm it. I believed these men absolutely honest, and believing 
the new Board to be entirely honest after it was harmonized, why should I doubt 
the opinion of a Board in whom I had confidence as to the value of the timber 
limits. Why should I? · It wa::, their job to administer the affairs of the bank 
under the Bank Act. 

Q. But it was your job to see if they were not fooling you.-A. I am telling 
you I had confidence in tlwm. I did not think they were fooling me. 

Q. Was there any suspicion arose in your mind after you got Mr. Machaffie's 
Ietter?-A. When I got Mr. Machaffie'::; letter I considered it a document of great 
importance, notwithstanding that thrre appeared to be a quarrel. I put it up to 
the Board of Directors and they sent me such a report, showing earnings two and 
a half times the dividend, showing a good liquid position, you could hardly 
imagine a more rosy report. 

Q. Did you send a ropy of that to :Mr. Machaffie?-A. No I did not. 
Q. Do you not think that would have been a decent thing to do ?-A. I 

thought there was a qµarrel between tbem-
Q. You are not answering my question; I am asking do you hot think that in 

view of Mr. Machaffie's statement to you as a Minister of the Crown, and their 
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reply, it would have been only decent to ~r. J\1achaffie to send him a copy of 
that to see if the statements contained in that letter of theirs were true or false? 
-A. It did not occur to me, becauf'e foe report was so ab:::olutely m,y and favour­
able that I came to the conclusion that there was a quarrel between Mr. Machaffie 
and the Board and his letter had been actuatRd by that, as the Board rnggested. 

Q. And it did not occur to you to find out ii it ~ms true?-A. Except that 
I eallcd for the copies of ledger entries. 

Q. That is all ?-A. The report fir$t and then the copies of ledger entries, 
because I believed it was true. 

Q. When you got the eopies of the ledger entries did you find anything not 
corrc.:'ponding with their report?-A. Which Peport? 

Q. The report which they had ju$t sent you after Mr. Machaffie had made his 
statement?-A. Not to my reco1lection. 

Q. Did you find that some of the statements contained in Mr. Machaffie's 
letter were true-A. I found one that was true. 

Q. Which one?-A. I am speaking from re<.;olleetion of eight years ago; that 
they had taken interest on the Frost aecount into profits up to the end of the 
fiscal year 1917. 

Q. Notwithstanding that you had told them not to do that two years before? 
-A. Yes. 

Q. So that so far a:; that statement was concerned you had reason to believe 
that Mr. Ma<'haffie was telling you the truth in regard to f:'ome things?-A. In 
regard to that. 

Q. From the inside ?-A. Yes with regard to that. 
Q. Did you go on to investigate in order to find out if the Board had been 

doing anything el,;e incorrectly which ~t. Machaffie had told you about in his 
letter?-A. Y cs. I acc~pted the 1?-tn.tement of the Board as to the Stewart 
Winnipeg account I think it was, that it was paid off. 

Q. The Stewart a<'count was paid off and you found that Mr. Machaffie was 
incorrect in that f'tatement ?-A. According to the report of the Board. 

Q. Did you ask Mr. Machaffie for any further CYidence at all to back up 
his f:'tatements?-A. No. 

Q. You were quite sati:;ficd with what the Board told you and gave you Ruch 
a nice rosy statement, you felt that that was good enough for the MiniRter of 
Finance of this eountry?-A. Mr. Lee, it would have been incredible to me, and 
it is incredible now, that any Board of Directors could make a statcm~nt 'Of that 
kind to a Minister of Finance fraudulently. 

Q. Whv Sir Thomas, you remember the Central Bank in this country don't 
you?-A. Well I do not. • 

Q. Do you remember the troubles there?-A. :N"o I do not. 
Q. There were certa,in Directors in that case who pretty nearly went to the 

penitPntiary.-A. Wel,l that may be, but here is a Board of Directors, many of 
whom I knew, and in Mr. Haney I had entire confidence, and as I have said they 
put in a report so circumstantial as to its condition, jts earnings two and a half 
times its dividend, it would have been incn~dible to me-

Q. How long have you known Mr. Haney?-A. I have known Mr. Haney 
for ten years, he was with me on the Bo:ird of tl1e Toronto General Hospital, 
I worked with him there, he represented I think St. Michael's College or 
Ho::;pital,. and I formed a very high opinion of his ability and his earnestness 
in hi~ work. 

Q. You had never had any business dealings with him?-A. No, I had not. 
Q. So the superficial knowlPdge you had of :Mr. Haney was gained on 

the::;e two Boards?-A. That is where I met him prin{)ipally, and I knew his 
general standing in Toronto. 

Q. Did you make any enquiry about his general standing?-A. No, except 
what I knew. 

• 
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Q. Where did you get your information?-A. I have told you I met Mr. 
Haney in connection with the Board of the Toronto General Bospital and that 
I knew of his general standing in Toronto as you get to know a man's general 
reputation and standing int.he community. 

Q. Had you carried your mind back a few years to when Mr. Haney was 
building the Crowsnest Pas5 road ?-A. :N"o. 

Q. Had you that in mind ?-A. I do not know anything with regard to the 
Crowsne-,t Pass construction-

Q. You remember a report was made?-A. I do not remember the report 

• at all. 
Q. Do you not remember Mr. Justice Clute made a report?-A. No it is 

not in my mind at all, I paid no attPntion to it, I do remember seeing in the 
newspapers years ago something indicating that the Crowsnest Pass issue 
involved some political que:;;tion~ 

Q. Nothing political about it.LA. I am giving you my impression only, 
giving you what is in my mind. In other words I do not know anything about 
it. 

Q. Then the only members of this Board of Directors that you knew at this 
time, 1918, when these statements were made to you by Mr. Machaffie,-the 
second danger signal I call it,-were the General Manager Mason, Mr. L. P. 
Gough, the Vice-President-A. I just knew of him. 

Q. Did you know Mr. Daly?-A. I did not. 
Q. That is what you told us yesterday.-A. It is a very curious thing that 

I did not, because Mr. Daly was down here, I think I have seen him but I would 
not have known him if I had met him, at that time Mr. Daly was a Director 
and afterward became Presid~mt. I had,heard of Mr. Daly down here because 
I think he was placed in some pm;ition by the Union Government in an or­
ganizing capacity; I certainly knew nothing against him and had heard that 
he was a fine organizer. . 

Q. And you knew General Mason, being a neighbor of his?-A. Yes. 
Q. And had known him for many years?-A. Yes I had. ' 
Q. And you seem yesterday to have expressed a very high opinion of 

General Mason?-A. No, I said General Mason was a man of good standing 
in Toronto, I never heard anything against General Mason until this matter 
C'ame up, he was a man who stood high in the Church I believe ,and was in 
good sbnding in the community. 

Q. Well we will not discuss the Church. Yesterday you told me some­
thing else about the Church, I think we had better leave that out.-A. I can­
not leave it out when I am giving you my opinion of the moral character of 
a man. 

Q. The fact that he was a good neighbor of yours had a good dral of 
weight with ybu, that his statements to you made in conjunction with Mr. Lash 
were true;-A. No, General Mason did not make any statements to me in 
conjunction with Mr. Lash. What I did, although he was a neighbor of mine, 
was-t6 get him off the Board; that was not a very neighbourly act. 

Q. Why did you get him off the Board ?-A. Bera use these western men 
had complained about him and wanted to harmonize the Board and would not 
work under him and suggested that these imprudent loans were made under 
his management. 

Q. Surely that would not have been sufficient, because there was internal 
dissension, that you as Finance Minister should be instrumental-A. I was not 
instrumental directly, but the action I took by rea:ion of the complaints of the 
western directors and the rharges made against General Mason, was in fact 
influential in having him displaced by Mr. Haney in whom they all had con­
fidence. 
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Q. What were the charges they laid against General Mason?-A. Well 
these imprudent loans, he was the General Manager and you will ~ee in the 
correspondence right along that they had not confidence in him, they said they 
were satisfied that no proper invesetigation would take place with the m:rnage­
ment as it was, they wanted it changed and they got rid of General Mason. 

Q. That was another danger signal to you to make a full investigation 
as this gentleman had asked ?-A. I would not say it was a danger signal. 

Q. Not a disturbing influence in your mind?-A. Well you may have 
dissensions on the Board, any Board, you may have a minority and a majority 
and they may have dis:=:ensions about a President or a General 1fanager; but 
what I relied upon was the fact that these three western dirrc'tors had brought 
the:oe three or four things to my attention-

Q. Did it ever ocrnr to you, these three or four things having been brought 
to your attention, that it would be a very wise thing to make a general audit 
of this bank?-A. I have saKl not I suppose twenty times. 

Q. Having regard to Mr. Fisher's letter to you u:;king that a full invrstigation 
be made?-A. I have said about twentv times that I did not consider it 
nece,,,;ary to have a full investigation made. 

Q. Will you tell me why you did not ronsider it necet;;:;ary?-A. Because 
three things only were brought to my attention, and these were the only things 
treated by this Board of western Directors. 

Q. If my memory serves me right they asked you for an investigation of all 
the affairs?-A. Later on they did, yes, and then they said in conneetion with it 
that they would not be content with an investigation from the inside ·as long as 
the present management continued, so by inference if the present management 
did not rontinue they were satisfied with an investigation from the inside. 

Q. Will you point that out to me? I did not get it that way.-A. I quoted 
it half a dozen times yesterday. 

Q. I got it that they were asking you for a full investigation of all the affairs 
of the bank?-A. They said,-and it is on record half a dozen times I think,­
that they would not be content with an internal investigation with the Board 
constituted as it was. They did a.,;k me later on for a genetal investigation, and 
I have told you that I declined to order a general investigation for the reasons 
that I have given repeatedly. 

Q. You declined to order a general investigation ?-A. In other words I did 
not comply with their later request. I was going to ask the Bankers' A~sociation '\ 
to look into it, I have said that twenty times: 

Q. Then when a suggestion was made to you, I believe by :Mr. :VIachaffie, 
that Mr. Pease was a good man.-A. WhPre <lo you find that, I never heard 
Mr. Peac;c\ name in ronnection with· it? 

Q. Pardon me, it was a letkr from Mr. Machaffie to Mr, Gough ?-A. 
Well I never saw it. 

Q. No I must apologice. Thrn thr only thing that we find that you have 
done in connection with the matter as Finance Minister wa-.; to order an investi­
gation by the auditor of the bank of four special accounts, and ybu called for 
the ledgPr entries of those arcounts?-A. Yes sir. 

Q. Then as I under,-tand from the whole of your remarks to my learner{ 
friends, the only thing you did as Financi> Mini,-ter wa:'l to ask for a i;L1tement 
of these four accounts from the auditor?-A. Yes. 

Q. You ralled for special ledgn entries of the::;e accounts, you pointed out 
to them that they were taking in interest whirh they had no right to do?-A. I 
would not quite put it that way, that they had no right 'to; I ju::;t told them not 
to do it. 

Q. You would not seriou-;ly argue that they had a right to do it, to p'ut 
in unearned interest into their profits?-A. It would depend, as I pointed out 
yestPrday, on the security, but, as a matter of fact, I did reque'lt them not to 
do it. 
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Q. Then you pointed that out to them?-A. Yes. 
Q. Can you tell us anything further than that that you did?-A. Yes. 

I called for a report from the Board, on that Machaffie report, and I called 
for a report from the Board on the Fisher communication. 

Q. Yes.-A. And I called for a copy of the ledger entries from Mr. Lash, 
and got them. Then I received the report from the Board in answer to the 
Machaffie charges. 

Q. You knew that the Pellatt loan ·was a frozen one?-A. It was an 
unliquid loan, in my judgment. 

Q. And it was largely on unused land in the City of Toronto?-A. Well, 
to a certain extent it was, I suppose. · 

Q. On City L,tates. Did you kn,ow about the City Estates at that time?­
A. I did not. 

Q. As part of Pellatt's security?-A. I told 1\.fr. Lash to take everything 
he could to strengthen that account, in the matter of security. 

Q. Did you ask Mr. Lash to get you an independent valu~tion of that 
land?-A. No. 

Q. Don't you think that that would have been the proper thing for the 
Minister to have done?-A. I do not think so. I do not believe any FinancE 
Minister had ever valued, up to that time, an account of the bank, or attempted 
to value a security. 

Q. Will you tell me, Sir Thomas, in your opinion, so that I may have no 
mi~conception in my mind, what you feel is the d\lty of a Finance :Ministf'r 
having the supervision of the banks of Canada, and having regard to this Bank 
Act, when he finds a situation such a'3 was here, with three d_anger signals, as 
I call them, given to him?-A. What his duty is? 

Q. That ):;is d·uty is only 'to take his information from within and not from 
,without ?-A. Hi., duty is to act honestly and according to his best judgment, 
~nd when he has done that he has discharged his duty. 

Mr. LEE: I think that is all, Sir Thomas. , 
Sir THOMAS WHITE: Thank you. There is no re-examination neces$ary, 

in my view, your lordship. 
His LORDSHIP: If you find it necessary 'later you can put it in. 

Sir THOMAS WHITE: I thank you very much. If I feel it necessary later 
on, your lordship, I will either file with you an argument, or appear before you 
when argument is presented, and sum up this matter. 

His LORDSHIP: Just before you leave, Sir Thoma!<, perhaps you- may help 
me in one thing which is in my mind. It will probably be argued before me, 
and I may be asked to expref',_s an opinion upon it as to how far the fact that 
we were at war, at the time of thirl transaction, operatf'd in y-0ur mind in coming 
to a conclusion as to what would be the best thing to do. 

One can readily see that a eour,-e which would naturally occur to an 
ewrutive officer of the Finance Department in times when peace existed would 
be a very hazardous and improper action at a time when the whole thing wail 
in the melting pot and anything may happen. 

Now, how far, if at all, did that enter into yol.Jr mind in coming to a con­
clu:-ion? There is rnme evidence about it, and I-thought that if you had any­
thing more to say on that point I would be very glad to hear it. 

SIR THOMAS WHITB: I will be very glad to answer your lonl:=:hip, and 
I am glad you raised the quef;tion, because I should not have rai<,ed it myself. 
I would say this, that it is impossible for a man to say what brought about a 
state of mind at a certain time, but, without any question, a man who is, so 
to speak, riding the financial storm of war would be influenced, to a certain 
extent, in his judgment as to the danger of taking a certain course probably 
more than he would in a time of profound peace. 
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I am not conscious that I was influenced by the conditions existing at that 
time, but I am not prepared to say that they were not a factor in determining 
whether a certain course should be pursued, or a certain other cour::;e pursued. 
I do not think anybody is quite capable of saying, that sir, becam:e a man is 
unable to say what all the factors were that entered into his mind and influenced 
his action. 

I can tell your lordship what the condition was during the war. I told you 
something of it. I was notified, time and again, during the war, of runs 
taking place here and there upon banks. I have been called up at all hours 
of the night, sometimes after I have gone to bed. I had been in touch with 
the Bankers' Association to close this gap, and close that gap, and the other, 
and I was swinging all the finance of the Dominion of Canada, and I was 
calling on all the banks to help me, with taking their proportionate share of 
treasury bills and acting as my agents to receive enormous sums of money 
which were subscribed by their depo.,;itors, and leaving that money on deposit 
with the banks. My policy was, and my course was, to leave with each bank, 
and I believe it- was done abrnlutely fairly, t>o much on depo.,it as was taken 
from the depositors of that b;mk, because otherwise we might take more than 
a proportionate amount from one bank and give it to another. Then we drew 
proportionately on those banks for the money that was used. 

Generally speaking, sir, that would seem to me ,to be a fair summing up 
of the situation. 

His LORDSHIP: Let me suggest this to you, Sir Thomas, please. There is, 
as you know, in Marine law the principle of average\ Goods are sent out on 
a ship that is making its voyage, a storm occurs, and my goods have, perhaps, 
to be thrown overboard, and your goods and somebody else's have got to come 
in and help me <mt. You see, there was nothing approaching that condition 
of affairs in connection with this matter. That here was a bank the failure 
of which might precipitate a financial crisis at a time in which it was necessary 
that the utmost confidence should prevail, and the position which I am 
inclined to think may be taken of it is that it was jettisoned for the public 
good. 

Sm THOMAS WHITE: I would not say that was so. On the other hand, 
as I have stated to your lordship, it is quite impossible for a man to mention 
all the elements that enter into his mind. He m[\y be unronsciously influenced 
by a situation, but, so far as I ran see at the present time, I am not aware that 
it was a case of jettison at all, but I certainly would not have allowed a bank to 
fail during the war. 

Hrs LORDSHIP: That is the other side of it. Thanks very much, Sir 
Thomas, I think I understand exactly. 

- Srn THOMAS WHI'l'E: I. thank you very much, sir. You have given me 
a great deal of latitude, and I am very grateful to you. 

His LORDSHIP: Gentlemen, what about to-morrow morning? 
Mr. LAFLE"CR: It is your lordship's plt>a.,ure. 
Mr. McLAUGHLIN: ,ve have one witne:'"l here, :'.\fr. Machaffie. 
Mr. LEE: We can finish up Mr. Machaffie's evidence before one o'.clock. 
Mr. ::'.\1:cLAUGHLIN: If you sit from ten to twelve that will enable us to 

catch the one o'clock train. 
His LORDSHIP: What do you say Mr. Lafleur? 
Mr. LAFLEUR: I am entirely in your hands, Mr. Commissioner. 
His LORDSHIP: Well, if that is the wish of counsel, we will sit to-morrow 

morning, commencing at ten o'clock up to whatever hour you wish to adjourn. 
(Proceedings stand adjourned at 5.10 p.m., Friday, 25th April, 1924, 

until 10 a.m. Saturday, 26th April, 1924.) 
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